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Chairman’s Statement

ERHS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of National United
Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year
ended 30 June 2024 (the “Current Year”) together with the comparative
figures for the eighteen months ended 30 June 2023 (the "Corresponding
Period”).

During the past year, the Company focused its efforts on how to enhance
the Company’s business, improve the Company's revenue and create more
benefits for its shareholders. As a result of the overall environment in industry,
the Company’s business has been inevitably affected, with both revenue and
profit taking a hit. Fortunately, with the concerted efforts of the Company’s
management and all staff, we weathered the most difficult period and are
ready to embrace the brand-new development.

In terms of business, during the past year, thanks to the unremitting efforts
of all staff, It KE@EAMSBHEERR L E (Beijing Tian Ma Tong Chi Car
Rental Co., Ltd.*) (“TMTC Rental”) and IR KXEBEIREZERIRAT
(Beijing Tian Ma Tong Chi Travel Transportation Co., Ltd.*) (“TMTC Travel”,
together with TMTC Rental collectively referred to as “TMTC Group”), the
principal business operating companies of the Company, spared no effort
to minimize the impact although it was impossible to completely avoid the
impact of the macro environment. As a result, TMTC Group maintained stable
business conditions. In this year, we have clenched our fists to be poised
to grow, built momentum for stock clearing and well prepared for the new
financial year to bring our business into full swing to embrace better growth.

The management of the Company is keenly aware that under the current
overall environment, only developing diversified operations for enhanced risk
control and shifting to industries with better prospects can lead the Group
towards better development. The development of the existing business
alone is not risk resilient. In the interest of the shareholders and investors
of the Company, the management of the Company has been actively
pursuing business expansion. During the financial year, the Company has
completed the installation and commissioning of a computational analytics
and processing centre and has commenced operation and provided revenue
to the Group, which was the Group’s first step in this area. In addition, the
Group also completed the acquisition of the City Gear Group during the
financial year, enabling the Company to take another step forward in the
area of system integration and data analytics, which has now started to bring
benefits to the Group. Furthermore, the management of the Company is
actively preparing and developing the business of natural resources products
trading as well as trading and transportation of bulk commodities and other
goods, with the expectation of generating substantial turnover and profits for
the Group from this new business.

*  For identification purpose only
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As | described to shareholders and investors in the chairman’s statement
in the 2023 annual report, the management and all staff of the Company
have made every effort during the financial year and were committed to
contributing to the performance and long-term development of the Company.
On behalf of the Board and all staff of the Company, | would like to take this
opportunity to make a statement that we will live up to your hopes and will
deliver more remarkable achievements in FY2024/2025 for the benefit of all
shareholders. Salute!

Ji Kaiping
Chairman of the Board

30 September 2024

Chairman’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEERE D

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Car Rental and Shuttle Bus Business

The Group has been engaged in providing car rental and shuttle bus services
business through 36 R KX BB SEMREHR/A S (Beijing Tian Ma Tong Chi
Car Rental Co., Ltd*) (“TMTC Rental”) and IR KX E@EHMIREZERGRAS
(Beijing Tian Ma Tong Chi Travel Transportation Co., Ltd*) ("TMTC Travel”,
together with TMTC Rental, “TMTC Group”) since September 2016. TMTC
Group operates through two major subsidiaries, TMTC Rental (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and TMTC Travel (a 49% owned
subsidiary of TMTC Rental). To align with the current operation model and to
implement management arrangements, on 1 September 2019, TMTC Travel
was consolidated into TMTC Group's account under HKFRS 10 on the basis
of full management control over TMTC Travel by TMTC Rental. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 2 March 2020.
TMTC Group owns around 800 electric buses, fuel buses, and other vehicles
in total, each with 5 to 59 seats. For car rental and shuttle bus services
business, (i) shuttle services between workplaces/schools and residential
communities for employees/students of institutional customers; (ii) vehicle
rental without chauffeur; and (iii) car rental with chauffeur for business,
leisure travel and large government events based on the specific requirements
on vehicle capacity, types of vehicles, point-to-point services, contracted
bespoke services and routes/shuttle arrangements with specific timetables are
provided. In addition, with years of experience in transportation logistics and
resource management, the Company also renders resource management and
planning services to its peers and other customers tailored to their needs.

*  For identification purpose only

6 National United Resources Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024

EBOERRE
AEHERBHELES
BEZE-—RFNAE AEEEBBIRKER
SEREARAR (REBMBE) RIERX
FEirkEExEaRAR ((REBMIKE) » EF
AERMES MBTRESEMER) tERER
ERBYELIRBEH REEHERBZBMK
TENBAREE BRXFEMEE (FQFMH
E2ENBRAR) AXFEMKE REBMEE
HHAO%RENWBEAR) - BHERFHEER
ARZEREEEZ R _Z-NFNLA—H RE
ERVYHREENF10RBREEHEEHXSE
BEREES 2 EEIEENEE REBR IR
NEBEEREAREREBMER -BRES B
2REAATNHPA S _TF=B _BHNQE
REBMERREEN0MEHE L MAEL
REMER SWEHESEESMEREMA - [REEE
REHELRBEZEBREAUBR BEH
B EHERE ST MESRRE B ERITREEN
iR BHEBER (WVABRBERNEE 24
EMAME BREFFETELER 2 BTREMSR
BE (RBAEERENAERE ; Ki)aHE
B R IRTT RSB BT A B 81 S # =S 1%
BUREBEEE UL RRBREZSEERY R KE
REELRBLENER TEREFEREM
ERNFE MHRHEREENRERS -



Management Discussion and Analysis

In the second half of 2023, with the direct impact of the epidemic over,
the Group’'s business gradually became more stable. The management
of TMTC adhered to the concept of “maintaining stability first and then
forging ahead”, striving to adapt the fleet of vehicles to the current business
environment. The Group continues to conduct vehicle inspections individually
in the second half of 2023, and repaired, replaced or phased out vehicles
with issues or potential issues. During this financial year, the Group purchased
new vehicles for customers in need to provide services better tailored to
their needs. However, as the Company is transitioning to higher quality
development in its business operations, there have been certain setbacks in
terms of revenue and profit, leading to a decline in profits and receivables.
The Group is striving to weather through this difficult period in order to
gather strength for a robust future.

In the first half of 2024, the Group was endeavoring to explore more
customers with a view to achieving more turnover and profits. However,
due to the overall industry environment, it failed to see significant increase
in business volume. The management of the Group is still working hard to
negotiate with a number of potential customers, with a view to achieving
better growth in the next financial year. We now plan to improve our fleet
in terms of hardware and software to better position ourselves in the highly
competitive post-pandemic era. In the future, TMTC Group will explore new
business opportunities, broaden its customer base, and exploit the Group’s
strengths in resource planning and control to increase the usage rate of
shuttles and surpass the limitations of having one business model for one
location. We will provide commuters in Beijing with a more convenient
shuttle service by marching into untapped markets for offering shuttle bus
services to SMEs in the same region that do not have enough employees for
their own shuttle buses and allowing them to share costs, with a view to
achieving business expansion. Meanwhile, we will also explore the “Passenger
Transport Plus” operation model to provide customers with more value-added
services and create more value for them during their commute. This project
was shelved during the pandemic, but we are now ready to continue with its
development to achieve our goal of generating more profits.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEERE D

Other New Business Developments

Information Technology

On 5 June 2023, after a long period of preparation and research, the Group
entered into an acquisition agreement with a company for the purchase
of equipment for the computational analytics and processing centre.
The acquisition is for the establishment of a computational analytics and
processing centre, and enables the Group to penetrate into the market of
data management and big data analytics services. This business is expected
to broaden the Group's scope of business and boost its risk resilience. The
installation and commissioning of the equipment was completed and the
provision of data traffic services to customers commenced in early 2024,
which has already started to generate revenue for the Group.

Moreover, the Group explores the business of resource planning and control
integration and vigorously develops other promising business areas to improve
the risk resilience and profitability of its business. On top of the car rental and
shuttle bus business, the management of the Group also strives to expand
the application of established business lines on the same technology level to
develop the relevant business lines in a further sense.

Through our years of cultivation in the car rental and shuttle bus services
segment, we are sophisticated in resource planning and control, like resource
management of vehicle and transportation data. In the future, we will
leverage our existing data and strengths in resource planning and control
to vigorously develop more promising business areas and identify suitable
business entry points.

We seek to constantly enhance our technical know-how and experience
in resource planning and control to improve the efficiency of resource
management across our business lines. In January 2023, we entered
into a memorandum of understanding in relation to possible acquisition
of a technology company (the “Target Company”) and published an
announcement for such purpose. The Target Company has extensive
experience and technical know-how in resource planning and control, and
the acquisition of the Target Company will provide the Group with more
stable technical support and lower costs for its logistics and transportation
management system, which will make the Group more competitive in
the market. On 27 December 2023, an announcement on a discloseable
transaction in relation to the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of
City Gear Limited (“City Gear"”), of which the Target Company is an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary, and the relevant loan was issued by the Company,
and the acquisition was completed on 28 March 2024. Currently, the Target
Company is carrying on with its normal operations and has started to
contribute revenue to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Bulk Commodity Trading and Transportation

On another front, the management of the Group believes that there are
unlimited business opportunities in international/domestic bulk commodities
trading and transportation. Compared with passenger transportation, the
management of the Group believes that bulk commodities transportation and
related trade are more stable in the wake of the pandemic. Under the impact
of the pandemic or other disasters, regardless of lockdown or movement
restrictions, the greatest impact will be on the passenger transportation,
i.e., the people’s movement. In contrast, bulk commodities such as energy-
related natural resources, essential goods and foodstuffs will be relatively less
affected. If the Group has a foothold in this segment and makes it one of
its principal business lines, the Group’s risk resilience and profitability will be
greatly enhanced. The management of the Group has already engaged with
several potential counterparties with a view to successfully tapping into this
business segment for the Group. A voluntary announcement in relation to the
development of the relevant business was also issued by the Company on 19
June 2024.

The Group intends to optimize and rectifying its existing business lines
in the new financial year to increase operational efficiency. Meanwhile,
the management of the Group also seeks to continue leveraging the
momentum of the pandemic reopening to intensify the exploration of new
business sectors, with a view to developing multiple profit points, providing
more stable support for the Group's revenue and maximal interests of the
Company’s shareholders (the “Shareholders”) and investors.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEERE D

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue, Cost and Gross Profit or Loss

During the Current Year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$84,738,000 (Corresponding Period: approximately HK$116,293,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 27.1% as compared to the
Corresponding Period. The decrease was primarily due to the decrease of car
rental and shuttle bus business in Beijing China during the Current Year.

A new segment of revenue amounted to approximately HK$22,169,000 from
Information Technology business, which was introduced to the Group during
the Current Year via acquisition of City Gear and its subsidiaries and purchase
of equipment for the computational analytics and processing centre.

Cost of revenue decreased by approximately 45.2% from approximately
HK$143,056,000 for the Corresponding Period to approximately
HK$78,427,000 for the Current Year, which mainly due to the decrease of
cost from car rental and shuttle bus business, with its variables cost, including
fuel and electricity, repair and maintenance and parking fee etc, changed in
line with the revenue.

Cost of revenue and services from Information Technology business amounted
to approximately HK$9,316,000, which mainly attributable to amortization
of intangible assets, system maintenance expenses and deprecation of fixed
assets. The cost is of approximately 42.0% to the correspondence revenue,
which brought high gross margin to the Group. The costs and benefits from
Information Technology business were introduced to the Group in the second
half of the financial year. Therefore, the economic benefits of the business
were not fully reflected in financial data.

The gross loss of approximately HK$26,763,000 for the Corresponding Period
turnout to gross profit of approximately HK$6,311,000 for the Current Year
was mainly due to combination of the aforesaid reasons. The gross profit
margin were significantly improved from negative gross profit margin of
approximately 23.0% for the Corresponding Period to gross profit margin of
approximately 7.4% for the Current Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other Income

Other income of the Group for the Current Year and the Corresponding
Period were approximately HK$33,526,000 and HK$331,830,000 respectively,
representing a decrease of approximately 89.9%. The decrease in other
income was mainly due to a one-off gain of approximately HK$328,461,000
from the debt restructuring in the Corresponding Period, and there was no
such gain in the Current Year.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses of the Group for the Current
Year amounted to approximately HK$32,434,000 (the Corresponding Period:
approximately HK$51,290,000), mainly consist of audit fee, depreciation of
property, plant and equipment, depreciation of right-of-use assets, legal and
professional fee, salaries of staff, directors remuneration and utility expenses,
representing decrease of approximately 36.8%. The decrease mainly due
to the Current Year was six months less than the Corresponding Period.
The administrative and other operating expenses from new business of
Information Technology business did not incur significant expenditures in the
Current Year.

Impairment Losses

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment (“PPE”) and Right of Use
Assets (“ROU”)

The impairment loss on PPE and ROU for the Current Year amounted to
approximately HK$10,572,000. The impairment reviews of motor vehicles
("MV") of TMTC Group and car rental business were performed in accordance
with the requirements of the accounting standard when impairment indicator
occurred.

The fair value measurement of MV was performed by an independent and
professional valuer in Hong Kong. The market approach was adopted as
valuation method. The key input of the second-hand price for comparable
ranges from RMB5,600 to RMB480,000. In the measurement of fair value
made by the valuer, the fair value of MV was referred to market comparable
of similar MV available in the market. The valuations have been made on the
assumption that the owner would sell the MV in the market in their existing
states without the benefit of deferred term contracts, leasebacks, joint
ventures or any similar arrangements which would serve to affect their values.

There were fair value measurement of MV was performed for the
Corresponding Period. The impairment loss on PPE and ROU for the
Corresponding Period amounted to approximately HK$57,858,000. The
decrease in impairment loss for the Current Year was in a result of the
obsoleted MV being disposed more than new electric buses and fuel buses
brought to the business.

There were no significant changes in the basis of the inputs and assumptions
from those previously adopted in the valuation method used.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEERE D

Impairment of Trade Receivables
The Group recorded impairment reverse on trade receivables for the Current
Year and impairment loss for the Corresponding Period of approximately
HK$3,450,000 and HK$10,081,000.

The impairment of trade receivables is based on (a) long outstanding amount
due from customers by customers at least more than over 1 year of aging;
(b) expected creditors loss (“ECL") on overall trade receivables on their
general balances as at balance sheet date. In cases of the operation of some
customers will not recover very shortly in twelve months from the balance
sheet date, and the feedback has been obtained from the customers for
their operation and cash flow situation, full impairment were provided; and
(c) in the case of recovery of trade receivables in the Current Year but the
amount due from were impaired in previous financial year/period, reversal of
impairment will occur.

The Group had assessed the expected credit loss on these receivables based
on the following factors: (a) the likelihood of recovering the receivables in
light of future market conditions and related impact on these customers; (b)
the credit risks associated with these customers by reviewing their financial
and business status; (c) the history defaults rate of these customers; and (d)
the length of overdue period. No valuation report was prepared to support
the impairment.

There were no significant changes in the basis of the inputs and assumptions
from those previously adopted in the valuation method used.

Impairment of Other Receivables

The Group recorded impairment losses on other receivables for the
Current Year and Corresponding Period of approximately HK$716,000 and
HK$3,118,000 respectively.

The impairment of other receivables is made based on long outstanding
amount due from prepayment and deposit for operating activities at least
more than over 1 year of aging.

No valuation report was prepared for the impairment assessment as the
situation is same as trade receivables.

There were no significant changes in the basis of the inputs and assumptions
from those previously adopted in the valuation method used.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Finance Cost

The decrease in finance costs by approximately 45.5% from approximately
HK$12,630,000 for the Corresponding Period to approximately
HK$6,882,000 for the Current Year was mainly due to the decrease in
interests charged on convertible bonds, non-convertible bonds and lease
liabilities.

(Loss)/profit attributable to the owners of the Company

Overall, the loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Current Year
was approximately HK$8,629,000 and profit attributable to owners of the
Company for the Corresponding Period was approximately HK$201,759,000.
The basic loss per share for the Current Year was approximately HK$0.21
cents compared to a basic earnings per share of approximately HK$6.63 cents
for the Corresponding Period.

Non-current Assets

The non-current assets were increased by approximately HK$73,790,000 from
HK$180,851,000 as at 30 June 2023 to HK$254,641,000 as at 30 June 2024.
The increase in non-current assets was mainly attributable to the acquisition
of motor vehicles from car rental and shuttle bus business, property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and goodwill via purchase from and acquisition
of Information Technology business during the Current Year.

Property, Plant and Equipment

As at 30 June 2024, property, plant and equipment amounted to
approximately HK$131,144,000, representing an increase of approximately
342.4% when compared to approximately HK$29,647,000 as at 30 June
2023. The increase was mainly due to the purchase of 35 units of new electric
buses and 16 units of new fuel-oil buses at an aggregate consideration of
RMB27,976,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$30,493,000) at the sale
and purchase agreement dated on 9 August 2023. As at 30 June 2024, the
property, plant and equipment from acquisition of City Gear and acquisition
of assets and establishment of computational analytics and processing center
("CAPC") in Information Technology business amounted to HK$17,349,000
and HK$80,397,000 respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEERE D

Intangible Assets

As at 30 June 2024, the intangible assets of approximately HK$27,931,000
represented various copy right with registration on Data Management
Technology Service Operation And Maintenance Support System
Development, Data Accuracy And Quality Improvement And Service System
Development, Real-time Data Analysis System Development etc, which
support system operation to performing contracted obligation to customers
on information technology business. The intangible obtained by acquisition
of City Gear and its subsidiaries during the financial year, therefore no
comparative figure for the Corresponding Period. The valuation of intangible
assets, by an independent and professional valuer in Hong Kong regarded
as identifiable assets, were obtained via the acquisition of City Gear by the
Group. Income approach was applied in valuation initial recognition at the
acquisition completed date. Under the income approach, the Multi-period
Excess Earnings Method ("MEEM") was adopted. The intangible assets would
be amortised in straight line method according to the estimated useful live.

Prepayment, Deposit and Other Receivables

The prepayment, deposit and other receivables in total of current and
non-current assets amounted to approximately HK$125,116,000 and
HK$106,225,000 as at 30 June 2024 and 2023 respectively. The decrease
in non-current assets was due to the prepayment and deposit incurred
in Corresponding Period for the data analytics infrastructure with system
application software of CAPC business were satisfied in functioning and to
performing tasks requested during the Current Year, therefore transformed as
property, plant and equipment. The increase in current assets of prepayment,
deposit and other receivable was due to the amount due from for purchase
of commodities incurred during the Current Year which the Group intends to
explore and expand into the international and domestic trade, transportation
and storage business of natural resources, bulk commodities and other goods.

Right-of-use Assets

As at 30 June 2024, the Group's right-of-use assets amounted to
approximately HK$32,159,000 including office, carpark and motor vehicles
on lease, of which the motor vehicles being used in the car rental services
business. During the Current Year and Corresponding Period, depreciation of
approximately HK$3,963,000 and HK$9,414,000 were provided for right-of-
use assets respectively. The impairment of HK$1,558,000 and HK$19,026,000
for the Current Year and Corresponding Period was due to the conservative
estimation of business of the car rental services.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Goodwill

As at 30 June 2024, Goodwill of the Group consisted of two businesses:
(i) one is from the consolidation of TMTC Travel in the year of 2019, which
engages car rental and shuttle bus business, and (ii) the other one is from the
acquisition of City Gear in business of Information Technology completed on
28 March 2024, which engages in the research and development, production,
sales and service of industry information solutions.

The balance of goodwill, as at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2024, amounted to
approximately HK$10,685,000 and HK$26,488,000 respectively, representing
an increase of approximately HK$15,803,000, which consisted of the (i)
impairment loss of approximately HK$23,920,000 and loss on exchange
difference in net of approximately HK$2,941,000 during the Corresponding
Period. The impairment was due to the conservative estimation of business
of the car rental services business for the Corresponding Period and (ii) arisen
from acquisition of City Gear amounted to approximately HK$15,886,000 as
at 30 June 2024 from Information Technology business. The valuation of two
components of goodwill were appraised of value in use of cash generating
unit performed by an independent and professional valuer in Hong Kong. No
impairment loss was provided for the Current Year.

For the valuation of goodwill related to TMTC Travel, there were no
significant changes in the basis of the inputs and assumptions from those
previously adopted in the valuation method used. The valuation method
adopted was the same as previously adopted since the consolidation of TMTC
Travel as subsidiary of the Group in 2019.

Trade Receivables

The trade receivables balance increased by approximately HK$57,802,000
from HK$20,305,000 as at 30 June 2023 to HK$78,107,000 as at 30 June
2024. The increase was mainly due to the Information Technology business.

As at the balance sheet date, the Group’s impairment provided for trade
receivables decreased by approximately HK$3,527,000 to approximately
HK$10,822,000 as comparing to the Corresponding Period amounted to
approximately HK$14,349,000. The decrease was mainly attributable to the
settlement of overdue trade receivables with long outstanding.

Contract Liabilities

As at 30 June 2024, the contact liabilities of approximately HK$3,236,000
represented contracted operating services amounts received in advance, from
industry information solution services which recognised as revenue overtime
when services is delivered.
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Financial Liabilities at FVTPL

As at 30 June 2024, the financial liabilities at FVTPL of approximately
HK$20,108,000 represented an contingent consideration in purchase of
City Gear and its subsidiaries. The promissory note in principle amount
of HK$40,000,000 shall be payable to the vendor in the case that the
guaranteed profit of City Gear shall reach HK$14,000,000 for the 12 months
from acquisition completion date on 28 March 2024.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As at 30 June 2024, the issued share capital of the Company was
approximately HK$3,587,769,000 divided into 4,387,628,409 shares of
the Company (the “Shares”). During the Current Year, the Group financed
its operations by cash from operating activities and proceeds from the
share subscription took place on 8 December 2023. As at 30 June 2024,
the cash and bank balances of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$45,758,000 (30 June 2023: HK$135,575,000). As at 30 June 2024,
the Group had current assets of approximately HK$217,442,000 (30 June
2023: HK$164,292,000), while its current liabilities were approximately
HK$364,789,000 (30 June 2023: HK$314,968,000). The current ratio of the
Group was approximately 0.60 times (30 June 2023: 0.52 times) and gearing
ratio (debts/total assets) was 45.8% (30 June 2023: 53.6%).

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM SHARE SUBSCRIPTIONS AND
OPEN OFFER

The First Subscription, the Open Offer and the Debt Restructuring are integral
parts of the Resumption Proposal to facilitate Resumption. Relevant details
are as follows:

On 31 December 2021, a circular containing, among other things, a notice
convening the general meeting (the “GM") held on 21 January 2022 and
the information relating to (a) the Capital Reorganisation; (b) the First
Subscription; (c) the Open Offer; and (d) the Debt Restructuring, was
despatched to the Shareholders. On 21 January 2022, resolutions as set
out in the GM notice were duly passed by the Shareholders or independent
Shareholders (as the case may be).

The Capital Reorganisation comprises the Share Consolidation and the
Change in Board Lot Size. Every 10 issued existing Shares were consolidated
into one Consolidated Share with effect from 25 January 2022 and the
Change in Board Lot Size from 10,000 Shares to 20,000 Consolidated Shares
took effect on 10 March 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The First Subscription

On 30 July 2019, the Company entered into the Subscription Agreement
(as supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 29 September
2020) with Mr. Ji Kaiping (“Mr. Ji") and Mr. Guo Peiyuan (“Mr. Guo”). On
24 February 2021, 24 June 2021 and 24 December 2021, the Company,
Mr. Ji, Thousand Joy Limited (“Thousand Joy"), Mr. Guo and Hontin
Ocean Resources Limited (“Hontin”) entered into the Revised Subscription
Agreement to amend and restate the Subscription Agreement, pursuant to
which 1,588,000,000 new Consolidated Shares (“Subscription Shares”) in
aggregate would be subscribed by Thousand Joy and Hontin in which (i)
Thousand Joy has conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the Company
has conditionally agreed to allot and issue a total of 972,500,000 new
Consolidated Shares; and (ii) Hontin has conditionally agreed to subscribe
for and the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue a total of
615,500,000 new Consolidated Shares at the Subscription Price of HK$0.11
per Subscription Share. The gross proceeds of the First Subscription were
HK$174,680,000. The Subscription Price of HK$0.11 per Subscription Share
represents a discount of approximately 92.3% to the theoretical closing price
of HK$1.42 per Consolidated Share as adjusted for the effect of the Share
Consolidation based on the closing price of HK$0.142 per Share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange on the Last Trading Day (i.e. 29 July 2016, being
the last trading day of the Shares immediately prior to the suspension of
trading of the Shares). The First Subscription completed on 9 March 2022.
The 1,588,000,000 Subscription Shares were issued under a specific mandate
obtained at the GM held on 21 January 2022. The net proceeds arising
from the First Subscription after deducting related expenses amounted to
approximately HK$170,573,000 (equivalent to a net price of approximately
HK$0.107 per Subscription Share).
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The Open Offer

As part of the fund raising plan under the Resumption Proposal, the Company
and Emperor Securities Limited (“Underwriter”) entered into the Underwriting
Agreement on 24 June 2021, and the Supplemental Underwriting
Agreements on 20 September 2021, 20 October 2021 and 30 November
2021 respectively. Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement (as supplemented
by the Supplemental Underwriting Agreements), the Underwriter conditionally
agreed to fully underwrite 641,177,050 Consolidated Shares at the offer
price of HK$0.11 per Offer Share on the basis of one Offer Share for every
one then existing Consolidated Share held by Qualifying Shareholder on the
Open Offer Record Date (i.e. 8 February 2022). The Offer Shares not taken
up by the Qualifying Shareholders will first be placed out by the Placing
Agent under the Unsubscribed Shares Arrangement, and any Untaken
Shares will then be taken up by the Underwriter, sub-underwriter(s) or
subscriber(s) procured by them. The gross proceeds of the Open Offer were
HK$70,529,475.5. The Offer Price of HK$0.11 per Offer Share was the same
as the Subscription Price. The Open Offer completed on 9 March 2022. The
Offer Shares were issued under a specific mandate obtained at the GM held
on 21 January 2022. The net proceeds arising from the Open Offer after
deducting related expenses amounted to approximately HK$65,212,000
(equivalent to a net price per Offer Share of approximately HK$0.102). The
Company intends to utilise the entire net proceeds from the Open Offer for
the settlement of debt under the Debt Restructuring.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 25 February
2022, a total of 7 valid applications had been received for a total of
108,260,129 Offer Shares as at 4:00 p.m. on 23 February 2022, representing
approximately 16.88% of the total number of Offer Shares available for
subscription under the Open Offer. The remaining 532,916,921 Unsubscribed
Shares, representing approximately 83.12% of the total number of Offer
Shares available for subscription under the Open Offer, were subject to
the Unsubscribed Shares Arrangement. As at 4:00 p.m. on 4 March 2022,
4,360,000 Unsubscribed Shares had been placed by the Placing Agent.
Accordingly, an aggregate of 528,556,921 Untaken Shares were taken up
by the Underwriter/Sub-underwriters and their respective sub-underwriters
and independent placees procured by them pursuant to the terms of the
Underwriting Agreement. The results of the Open Offer were announced on
8 March 2022 and the Offer Shares had been issued and allotted on 9 March
2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

On 9 March 2022, the Board announced that (i) all the conditions precedent
to the First Subscription had been fulfilled and 972,500,000 Subscription
Shares and 615,500,000 Subscription Shares had been allotted and issued
to Thousand Joy and Hontin, respectively in accordance with the terms of
the Revised Subscription Agreement; and (ii) all the conditions precedent
to the Debt Restructuring had been fulfilled and a total of 207,274,309
Creditors Shares had been allotted and issued to 11 Creditors under the Debt
Restructuring.

Upon completion of the First Subscription, the Open Offer and the Debt
Restructuring on 9 March 2022, the Company had fulfilled all the SFC
Resumption Conditions and the Stock Exchange Resumption Conditions,
trading in Shares resumed on 10 March 2022.

Capitalised terms used in the sub-sections headed “The First Subscription”
and “The Open Offer” shall have the same meanings as those defined in the
circular issued by the Company dated 31 December 2021, unless the context
requires otherwise. For more details, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 21 January 2022, 25 January 2022, 25 February 2022,
8 March 2022 and 9 March 2022, the circular of the Company dated 31
December 2021 and the prospectus of the Company dated 9 February 2022.

The Second Subscription

To strengthen the financial position (in particular the working capital and
cash flow position) of the Group, on 26 October 2022, the Company entered
into two separate conditional Subscription Agreements with Mr. Fan Lian
and Mr. Tian Xin to proceed with the Second Subscription. Pursuant to the
Subscription Agreements, Mr. Fan Lian and Mr. Tian Xin have conditionally
agreed to subscribe for, and the Company has conditionally agreed to allot
and issue, an aggregate of 610,000,000 Subscription Shares at a price of
HK$0.115 per Subscription Share. The completion of the Second Subscription
took place on 8 November 2022. The 610,000,000 Subscription Shares were
issued under the general mandate obtained at the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 28 June 2022.
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The gross proceeds arising from the Second Subscription were
HK$70,150,000. The Subscription Price of HK$0.115 per Subscription Share
was the same as the closing price of HK$0.115 per Share as quoted on the
Stock Exchange on 26 October 2022, being the date of the Subscription
Agreements. After deduction of relevant expenses of the Second Subscription,
the net proceeds arising from the Second Subscription amounted to
approximately HK$70,030,000 (equivalent to a net price per Subscription
Share of approximately HK$0.1148). The net proceeds arising from the
Second Subscription would be used by the Company (i) as to approximately
70% or more of the net proceeds for enhancement of existing business of
the Group and for business expansion of the Company, including but not
limited to investment in freight and logistics services, digital economy related
business, highway service and/or other potential business development when
such opportunities arise; and (ii) the remaining net proceeds as general
working capital of the Group.

Capitalised terms used in this sub-section headed “The Second Subscription”
shall have the same meanings as those defined in the announcement of the
Company dated 26 October 2022, unless the context requires otherwise.

The Third Subscription

To further strengthen financial position of the Company, the Company
entered into a separate conditional subscription agreement (the "“2023
Subscription Agreement”) with Hot Mediatech Group Pte. Ltd. (“Hot
Mediatech”), which is wholly-owned by Ms. Li Jiayi, on 24 November 2023
to proceed with the Third Subscription. Pursuant to the 2023 Subscription
Agreement, Hot Mediatech has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and
the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue, an aggregate of
700,000,000 Subscription Shares at a price of HK$0.115 per Subscription
Share. The completion of the Third Subscription took place on 8 December
2023. The 700,000,000 Subscription Shares were issued under the general
mandate obtained at the general meeting of the Company held on 3 April
2023.

The gross proceeds arising from the Third Subscription were HK$80,500,000.
The subscription price of HK$0.115 per Subscription Share was at premium
of 40.24% to the closing price of HK$0.087 per Share as quoted on
the Stock Exchange on 24 November 2023, being the date of the 2023
Subscription Agreement. After deduction of relevant expenses of the Third
Subscription, the net proceeds arising from the Third Subscription amounted
to approximately HK$80,400,000 (equivalent to a net price per Subscription
Share of approximately HK$0.1149). The net proceeds arising from the Third
Subscription would be used by the Company as to (i) approximately 74.63%
for investment activities when such investment opportunities arise; and (ii)
approximately 25.37% for general working capital.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capitalised terms used in this sub-section headed “The Third Subscription”
shall have the same meanings as those defined in the announcement of the
Company dated 24 November 2023, unless the context requires otherwise.

Details of the breakdown and description of the use of net proceeds arising
from the First Subscription, the Open Offer, the Second Subscription and the
Third Subscription are set out below:

EIEEwmAN

X ESBREN A T5=BBEEEF
AR AT AR S _=F+—A-+M@
ElE"]/-\%ﬁﬁufE%EE*EH/uﬁo

ARE—ERBERE-2AEE - F_EIBERE
REZIEDBEEZFASNIAZERRBMERR
AREFBOT

Net Proceeds

FERIERHE
Unutilised Amount Utilised Unutilised Expected
amount received amount amount timeline
Total as at during during asat for the
planned 1July  the Current  the Current 30 June unutilised
Intended use of net proceeds MERERERTERE amount 2023 Year Year 2024 net proceeds
i B HXBA
ZBI= “EME MR
tA-H rEE REE ~NA=TH BEN
HE Rk *BALE KMz &85 EHREH FHREE BHEEX
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL TR TR FEL
Proceeds from the First F-EREEER
Subscription and the Open Offer ~ ABREZFIEHIE
Settlement of debt under ENBRELETEE 160,000 106,908 - 65,002 41906  Year 2024
the Debt Restructuring —ZNE
Business expansion EBRER 51,185 - - - - -
General working capital —fREEES 24,600 - - - - -
Proceeds from the Second B ERRSEZABRE
Subscription
Business enhancement and EBRRAREBER 49,030 - - - - -
business expansion
General working capital —fREEES 21,000 2,899 - 2,899 - -
Proceeds from the Third BEERESEZABRE
Subscription
Investment activities REEY 60,000 - 60,000 60,000 - -
General working capital —fREEES 20,400 - 20,400 20,400 - -
Total st 386,215 109,807 80,400 148,301 41,906
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The net proceeds arising from the First Subscription, the Open Offer, the
Second Subscription and the Third Subscription were used according to the
intentions previously disclosed by the Company. Nevertheless, the Directors
will constantly evaluate the Group’s business objectives and may change or
modify the plan against changing market conditions to ascertain the business
growth of the Group.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION, DISPOSAL AND
SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

On 27 December 2023, Million Best International Enterprise Limited (“Million
Best”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with Mr. Xie Minxiong (“Mr. Xie”), pursuant
to which Million Best has conditionally agreed to purchase, and Mr. Xie has
conditionally agreed to sell, the entire issued shares of City Gear and the
unsecured, non-interest-bearing loan owed by City Gear and its subsidiaries
to Mr. Xie at a consideration of up to HK$90,000,000 (the "“Acquisition”).
Following the completion of the Acquisition on 28 March 2024, City Gear
and its subsidiaries have become indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company.

Save as the Acquisition disclosed above, the Group did not have any material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during
the Current Year and did not have any significant investments held as at 30
June 2024.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the Current Year, the majority of the Group’s income and expenses
were denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. Up to 30 June 2024,
the management of the Company was of the opinion that the Group has
insignificant exposure to foreign exchange risk. The Group did not use any
financial instruments for hedging against fluctuation in foreign exchange for
the Current Year. Nevertheless, the management of the Company will closely
monitor and from time to time reassess the exchange risk exposures of the
Group and enter into non-speculative hedging arrangements if considered
necessary.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had 335 employees (including the Directors)
in Hong Kong and the PRC (30 June 2023: 382 employees). The Group
continues to provide remuneration packages to employees according to
market practices, their experience and performance. Remuneration policy is
basically determined with reference to individual performance as well as the
financial results of the Group. Remuneration to staff will be reviewed from
time to time when warranted considering the performances of staff. Other
benefits include medical insurance scheme and contribution of statutory
mandatory provident fund for the employees. There has been no major
change in staff remuneration policies during the year ended 30 June 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BORROWINGS AND CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S
ASSETS

As at 30 June 2024, the Group recorded the borrowings of approximately
HK$68,934,000, in which of approximately HK$30,384,000 represented loan
from banks and bears interest rate of LPR -0.65% to LPR +0.53% per annum
with motor vehicles in carrying amount of approximately HK$16,912,000
being pledged to secure the loan from banks. All borrowings are repayable on
demand or within one year.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group recorded the borrowings of approximately
HK$38,550,000. No assets had been pledged to banks for securing banking
or other financing facilities granted to the Group since loan from bank was
fully settled during the Corresponding Period. All borrowings are repayable on
demand or within one year.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Details of capital commitments were disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Details of contingent liabilities were disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no material events subsequent to 30 June 2024 which would
materially affect the Group’s operating and financial performance as of the
date of this report.

ACTIONS TAKEN BY THE COMPANY TO ADDRESS
RELEVANT QUALIFIED OPINION

The auditors of the Company, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (“Auditor”),
had issued qualified opinion (the “Qualified Opinion”) on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2024. The
Company had taken actions to address the relevant audit qualifications.

The following actions had taken by the Company to address the Qualified
Opinion in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2024:
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Borrowings
There was no sufficient evidence provided to satisfy the Auditor, in relation to
the existence, rights and obligations and valuation of the borrowings.

The Company, its relevant subsidiaries and the creditors of the borrowings
had entered into legal documents, pursuant to which that the Company
shall dispose the subsidiary which held all the borrowings to an independent
third party with minimal consideration and all the repayment obligation of
the Company shall be released. The disposal was completed on 11 February
2022. The subsidiary disposed of only held the borrowings and did not have
any asset or business operation. Since the borrowings in the qualification
is no longer in the books of the Group, the Auditor has removed this
qualification in the auditor’s report and except for the comparative figures for
the Current Year about the gain on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately
HK$37,660,000 during the eighteen months ended 30 June 2023.

The management’s view in respect of the Qualified Opinion
The management acknowledges the basis of the qualification made by the
Auditors regarding the borrowings. The management of the Company has
no objection to the Auditor's view in respect of the Qualified Opinion and
the removal of the audit qualification in the Current Year except for the
comparative figures in the Current Year.

The Audit Committee’s and the Board’s view towards the
Qualified Opinion

The Audit Committee and the Board reviewed the Qualified Opinion in the
annual report of the Company for the Current Year and actions taken by the
Company to address the Qualified Opinion and concurred with the view of
the management of the Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ji Kaiping (“Mr. Ji”), aged 61, has been an executive Director since
29 August 2017 and the chairman of the Board since 29 November 2018. He
is also an authorised representative of the Company pursuant to Rule 3.05 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company
(the”Nomination Committee”) and director of various subsidiaries of the
Group.

He completed the course of master's degree in business administration at
International Business Administration School of the University of International
Business and Economics in China in November 2005. He founded 1t& %k
EREEHSEREAREAS (Beijing Tian Ma Tong Chi Car Rental Co., Ltd*)
("TMTC Rental”), which is currently an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, in 2006 and serves as its chairman. Mr. Ji is responsible for
the overall management of the actual operation of TMTC Rental. Mr. Ji has
extensive experience in management.

Mr. Ji is the sole director of Thousand Joy Limited, a company which has
disclosable interests in the shares of the Company under the provisions in
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571, the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO").

Mr. Guo Peiyuan (“Mr. Guo”), aged 53, has been an executive Director
since 4 April 2018. He has almost 20 years’ experience in passenger transport
management. From 1999 to 2004, he worked in ItRBERITHEBE RS
(Beijing Youth Travel Service Company Limited*) as a department manager,
mainly responsible for scheduling of sightseeing buses, business development
and customer relationship etc. From 2004 to 2006, Mr. Guo worked in 65
X EFR#E5E /2 5 (Beijing Tianma Travel Automobile Company*) as a deputy
team leader, mainly responsible for fleet management, business development
and customer relationship etc. In 2006, he founded TMTC Rental and
currently serves as its general manager. In 2008, he acquired 1t R R E ik
7%t (Beijing Minyun Travel Agent*) and changed its name to 155K & @&t
RIEEEAR/A T (Beijing Tian Ma Tong Chi Travel Transportation Co., Ltd*)
("TMTC Travel”). Currently, Mr. Guo participants in management of TMTC
Travel but does not hold any interest in such company. Both TMTC Rental and
TMTC Travel are currently subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Guo is the sole director of Hontin Ocean Resources Limited, a company

which has disclosable interests in the shares of the Company under the
provisions in Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

* For identification purpose only
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (cont'd)

Ms. Mao Na (“Ms. Mao"), aged 44, has been an executive Director since
8 April 2022. She completed the course of bachelor’s degree in Directing
(Drama and Film-and-Television Production) at Beijing Film Academy in China
in July 2005. Having worked in the media industry for more than 19 years,
Ms. Mao has gained extensive working and management experience in the
sector. She also has extensive experience in investment in advertising creative,
production and agency, film, video streaming, magazine, medical scrubs and
military equipment aspects. Currently, Ms. Mao is the chairman and legal
representative of IERAFAEIRXILEEBRAE (Beijing Dijiu Yinxiang
Culture Media Ltd.*), which is mainly engaged in organizing cultural and
artistic exchanges.

Mr. Qiu Keshan (“Mr. Qiu”), aged 57, has been an executive Director
since 8 April 2022. He obtained Bachelor of Medical from Capital Medical
University in China in July 1991. He has been serving as the chairman of X
B2 IKTER E 5 AR /A S (Tianjin Jinzhaoyuan International Trading Ltd.*),
which is engaged in investment management of commodities trading, import,
export and agency, since February 2010. Mr. Qiu has extensive experience
in bulk commodities trading investment management and supply chain
financing.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. An Jingwen (“Mr. An"), aged 69, has been a non-executive Director
since 3 December 2018. He is also a member of each of the audit committee
(the”Audit Committee”) and the remuneration committee (the”Remuneration
Committee”) of the Company. He obtained a doctor’s degree in Management
Science and Engineering from China University of Mining and Technology
(Beijing) in 2010 and the qualification certificate of independent director
issued by the Shanghai Stock Exchange in May 2012.

Mr. An is a professor of school of management of China University of Mining
& Technology (Beijing) and tutor of postgraduate candidates. Mr. An has
over 30 years’ experience in teaching and research work and has extensive
experience in the coal industry and corporate training, as well as in the areas
of standardization and quality management. Mr. An is currently a member of
each of FEIER TEMEBEWR TEREMEESE (Coal Industry Technology
Committee of China National Coal Association) and P EIIZ#LFIZE RS
EREBRMESSE (the Fifth Science and Technology Committee of China
National Institute of Standardization).

* For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Wen (“Mr. Li"”), aged 68, has been an independent non-executive
Director since 4 April 2018. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee,
and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. He obtained a bachelor’s of laws degree from China University
of Political Science and Law in 1983 and a master's degree in laws from
Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences in 1986. In 1986,
he passed the Chinese National Lawyer’s Qualification examination in
Beijing and obtained legal professional qualification. From August 1986 to
December 1992, Mr. Li served as lawyer in FAELAREFHF L (China Legal
Affairs Centre*) and practiced in law firms in Hong Kong, London and Los
Angeles during the period from June 1988 to January 1991. From December
1992 to June 1994, he founded Beijing Zhong Lun Law Firm and served as
principal. From June 1994 to July 2007, Mr. Li founded Beijing Li Wen &
Partners and served as principal. Beijing Li Wen & Partners principally engaged
in corporate, international trading, real estate and finance. In July 2007,
subsequent to the change of name from Beijing Li Wen & Partners to 36
EFNEREMEFSFN (Beijing Xinhe Law Firm*), through merger with Beijing Hao
Tian Law Office, Beijing Hylands Law Firm had been established, and Mr. Li
served as partner.

Mr. Qiu Ke (“Mr. Qiu”), aged 53, has been an independent non-executive
Director since 1 June 2018. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from
Capital University of Economics and Business (formerly known as Beijing
College of Economics) in 1994, and obtained a master’s degree in business
administration from Renmin University of China in 2003. He also obtained a
vocational education diploma in accounting studies in Canada in 2004.

From 1995 to 2005, Mr. Qiu served as assistant analyst in credit card
department of Beijing Branch of China Construction Bank and has in-depth
knowledge and extensive experience in financial industry and products.
Thereafter, he has involved in works of accounting in Canada and has a
profound theoretical knowledge and extensive practical experience in all
aspects of international trading, management in accounting industry, various
types of financial statements, letter of credit and telegraphic transfer.

Ms. Chen Yen Yung (“Ms. Chen"), aged 53, has been an independent
non-executive Director since 17 April 2019. She is also a member of each
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. She has over 20 years' experience in the accounting and finance
field. She is a member of the CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Chen is currently the company secretary of
AT K ZRBIERRABRAE (Zhejiang Yongan Rongtong Holdings Co.,
Ltd*) (stock code: 8211), a joint stock limited company incorporated in the
PRC, whose H shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "“Stock Exchange”). Since June 2024, Ms. Chen has acted as an
independent non-executive Director of Qingling Motors Co. Ltd (stock code:
1122), a sino-foreign joint venture joint stock limited company incorporated
in the PRC, whose H shares are listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

* For identification purpose only
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Directors’ Report

ERTHRS

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2024:

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. For the year ended 30 June
2024, the principal activities of the Group are (i) provision of car rental and
shuttle bus services since September 2016; (ii) provision of cloud computing,
global traffic operations and digital transformation services via private
owned and constructed data analytics infrastructure with system application
software of computational analytics and processing center (“CAPC"); and
(iii) the research and development, production, sales and service of industry
information solutions via acquisition of City Gear completed on 28 March
2024. The later two principal activities of the Group generated revenue
during the second half of the Current Year and were allocated to a new
reportable operating segment as Information Technology business. All
businesses are based in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

A detailed review on the Group’s business performance and the material
factors underlying its financial position, as well as the development and likely
future prospects of the Group’s business are provided throughout this annual
report and in particular under the following separate sections:

(a) review of the Company’s business and financial position, a discussion
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end
of the Current Year, and an indication of likely future developments in
the Group’s business are shown in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report and notes 36 and 38 to
the consolidated financial statements;

(b) details of key performance indicators are shown in the sub-section
headed “Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources” under the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report;

(c) the Group's environmental policies and performance are shown in the
sub-section headed “Environmental Policies” below;

(d) the Group’s key relationships with employees, customers and suppliers
are shown in the sub-section headed “Key Relationships” below; and

(e) the Group's compliance with the relevant laws and regulations are shown
in the sub-section headed “Compliance with Laws and Regulations”

below.

The discussions referred to in the above form part of this Directors’ Report.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS

a) Employees
Human resources are one of the greatest assets of the Group and the
Group ensures all staff are reasonable remunerated and also continues
to improve and regularly review and update its policies on remuneration
and benefits, training, occupational health and safety.

b) Customers
The Group cherishes the mutually beneficial relationships with its
customers. The Group will provide the best services to its clients to
establish and consolidate the Group’s reputation in the industry.

c¢) Suppliers
The Group is also dedicated to developing good relationship with
its suppliers, who are liable to social responsibility and reliable on
deliverability as long-term business partners to ensure stability of the
Group’s business. The Group reinforces business partnerships with its
suppliers by ongoing communication in a proactive and effective manner
so as to ensure quality and timely delivery.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporation
that pays close attention to conserving natural resources. By speeding up the
transformation of development mode, adhering to safe, green and efficient
resources for greater quality, the Group aims to achieve green, circular and
low-carbon development.

The Group strives to minimize the environmental impact by saving electricity
and encouraging recycle of office supplies and other materials. In addition,
the Group actively advocated a paperless office and encouraged the
employees to develop good habits, conserve resources and energy to build a
green and comfortable office environment.

Pursuant to Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules, the Company is required to
prepare an Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG Report”),
which explains the management approaches, strategies, policies, measures
taken and results of its activities on environmental and social areas and
aspects, and evaluate their impact on the sustainable development of the
environment and society.

A separate ESG Report for the year ended 30 June 2024 will be published
in electronic form only on the Stock Exchange's website and the Company’s
website at the same time as the publication of this annual report. If you wish
to receive the printed version of the ESG Report, you may send your request
in writing to the Company'’s registered office in Hong Kong.
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Directors’ Report

ERTHRS

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Shares have been listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange and
therefore the Company is subject to the governance of the Listing Rules
including the disclosure requirements, the corporate governance provisions
set out in part 2 of Appendix C1 and the “comply or explain” provisions
set out in Appendix C2 thereto. Under the SFO, the Company is required to
maintain a register of substantial Shareholders’ and other persons’ interests in
Shares and underlying shares of the Company and a register of Directors’ and
chief executives’ interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations and is obliged to

disclose inside information as soon as reasonably practicable.

As the Company was incorporated in Hong Kong, it is subject to various laws
and regulations including Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the laws of
Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”), Business Registration Ordinance
(Cap. 310 of the laws of Hong Kong), Inland Revenue Ordinance (Cap. 112 of
the laws of Hong Kong) and Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the laws of
Hong Kong).

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries
in the PRC. Our establishment and operations accordingly shall comply
with all PRC laws and applicable laws in the jurisdictions where we have
operations. To the best of Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
during the year ended 30 June 2024 and up to the date of this annual report,
the Group complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and

Hong Kong.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”) and
subject to the provisions of the Companies Ordinance, every Director or other
officer of the Company shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all liabilities which he/she may incur in or about the execution and
discharge of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto,
provided that such Articles shall only have effect in so far as its provisions
are not avoided by the Companies Ordinance. The Company has arranged
appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect
of legal actions against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities since 24 March 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year ended 30 June 2024.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The names of all the directors who have served on the subsidiaries of the
Company during the year ended 30 June 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report are available on the website of the Company.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2024 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 64. The Board did not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2024.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to be
held on Wednesday, 4 December 2024 (the "2024 AGM").

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 29 November
2024 to Wednesday, 4 December 2024, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the 2024 AGM, all transfers of Shares accompanied
by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with the Company’s
share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Abacus Limited at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 28 November 2024.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out on page 140.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year ended 30 June 2024 are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 30 June 2024, the issued share capital of the Company was
HK$4,387,628,409 divided into 4,387,628,409 Shares.

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year ended
30 June 2024 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of
Hong Kong.

Directors’ Report

EREHRS

FERRE

FEERE S MEAASTHIEEETRE
BREMEZ R AGER BEEETRERNE
ECECMEAASHALEEZRERE

REBEAGREFMHERDBR
B FE

AADNEERTBFAEEN S ME+
AMA (21W=) #217 (CT_NERTBEA

&) o

AEETHR _ZNERBBFAGREG LK
EMBERAATRBN T _MWE+—B_+h
HEHPDHE_ET_NE+_ANA (EHD)
(BEEEMX) EEHEBERMNBLRELSFE B
BAGHERNBAEL ANSERHELS
THFERBEEFATIRE LRE MERMDS
PAXHEREMREEFAER_2NF+—A&
“+N\B (BN TFEBZ+ORELAATZ
BRMBRERLESEHRMAHBRAE MILAS
BEREIGSERESRHRAO7E) » LUNEBESRLEF
Eo

MBEHNE
AEEBTRAEVBREEZXBEUREERER
BEEH N E140E o

ME- -BERRE
AEERBE_S_MEAA=+ELEEZY
% BERBEZEHWNESMEREN 6

& 7
ATECNEANBZTH ARABEBITRAEAS
4,387,628,40978 7T > 0 #54,387,628,409/ iR 17 ©

ERBRANRBE_E_NFAA=THLEEE
ZEBEFERN R E M B RRMEE300

BEBERE
ERMBAREEEABREMELBEEZ K
YO

EXMEERERARAR 31
2024FF I



Directors’ Report

ERTHRS

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 24 November
2023 and 8 December 2023, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 30 June 2024.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year ended 30 June 2024 are set out in note 31(b) to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE
As at 30 June 2024, the Company did not have any distributable reserve.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 30 June 2024, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 48.5% of its total sales and sales to
the largest customer included therein accounted for approximately 14.9%.
Supply of goods and services of car rental and shuttle bus services business
are freely available from a range of suppliers including, gasoline stations,
electric vehicle charging supply and automotive services providers, at
competitive pricing and which are always available throughout the Current
Year and Corresponding Period. Therefore the disclosure of the top five
suppliers are excluded.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers during the year ended 30 June 2024.

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY
The Directors during the year ended 30 June 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ji Kaiping (Chairman)
Mr. Guo Peiyuan

Ms. Mao Na

Mr. Qiu Keshan

Non-executive Director
Mr. An Jingwen

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Wen

Mr. Qiu Ke

Ms. Chen Yen Yung
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DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY (cont'd)

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. An Jingwen, Mr. Qiu Ke and Ms. Chen
Yen Yung will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the 2024 AGM.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM has
a service contract with the Company which is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
None of the Directors or their respective associates were interested in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group during the year ended 30 June 2024 and up
to the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’' BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 25 to 27 to this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangements or contract of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and
in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during the year ended 30
June 2024.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 30 June 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the Shares, and underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (cont’'d)

BEERFETBRAERAQATRAE
R EE Z D - BRI RESH
ZHEEDRRE @

Long Position in the shares of the Company REATRMBZERE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of interest in
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held the Company
LA AEEEZ
EEgs By HmtE HERNEE BABE DL
Ji Kaiping (“Mr. Ji") Interest of a controlled corporation 972,500,000 22.16%
(Note 1) REGEEN#E D (Note 1)
LR (MeksE)) (BF5ET)
(M$zE1)
Guo Peiyuan (“Mr. Guo") Interest of a controlled corporation 615,500,000 14.03%
(Note 2) REGEEN#E D (Note 2)
WigE (M5 4]) (MF5E2)
(M$zE2)
Qiu Keshan Beneficial owner 3,140,000 0.07%
BT BmEAA
Notes: B 5T

1. Such Shares were registered in the name of Thousand Joy Limited (“Thousand
Joy"), a company wholly owned by Mr. Ji. By virtue of the provisions of Part XV of
the SFO, Mr. Ji is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Thousand Joy.
Mr. Ji is a director of Thousand Joy.

2. Such Shares were registered in the name of Hontin Ocean Resources Limited
("Hontin Ocean”), a company wholly owned by Mr. Guo. By virtue of the provisions
of Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Guo is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Hontin Ocean. Mr. Guo is a director of Hontin Ocean.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2024, none of the Directors and/
or chief executive of the Company or their associates had or was deemed
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which each of them has
taken or deemed to have taken under the SFO), or which would be required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register required to
be kept therein or which would be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 30 June 2024 were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debenture of the
Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children
under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

At 30 June 2024, the interests or short positions of every person, other than
a Director or chief executive of the Company, in the Shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:
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Approximate

percentage
Number of of total
Capacity/ Long position/ Number of underlying number of
Name Nature of interest short position Shares held Shares held Shares in issue
HERITROEH
W2,/ 4B B/ REME e/ %E FSRMEE  FRiSERRMEE ZBHERLL
Thousand Joy (Note 1) Beneficial owner Long position 972,500,000 - 2216 %
T (1) BEnEEA o)
Hot Mediatech Group Pte. Ltd. Beneficial owner Long position 700,000,000 - 15.95%
("Hot Mediatech”) (Note 2) BEnEEA 5]
Hot Mediatech Group Pte. Ltd.
("Hot Mediatech 1) (Fff5£2)
Ms. Li Jiayi (“Ms. Li") (Note 2) Interest of a controlled Long position 700,000,000 - 15.95%
corporation HE
Famut (FgL) ZEGEENER
GEZ)
Hontin Ocean (Note 3) Beneficial owner Long position 615,500,000 - 14.03 %
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (cont’d)

Notes:
1. Thousand Joy is wholly owned by Mr. Ji.

2. Hot Mediatech is wholly owned by Ms. Li. Ms. Li is deemed to be interested in all
the Shares held by Hot Mediatech.

3. Hontin Ocean is wholly owned by Mr. Guo.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2024, the Directors and the senior
management of the Company are not aware of any other person who had an
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of Part XV of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Directors’ remunerations, bonuses
and other compensation are recommended by the Remuneration Committee
and determined by the Board with reference to the Directors’ duties,
responsibilities and the Group’s performance and results.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group had not entered into any
transactions which constituted non-exempt connected transactions or non-
exempt continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group had entered into certain
transactions with parties regarded as “related parties” under the applicable
accounting standards, but these transactions were not regarded as connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules
or were exempt from reporting, announcement and shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules. The Company confirms that it has
complied with the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Details of these related party transactions are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, throughout the year ended 30 June 2024 and
as at the date of this annual report, there is sufficient public float by not less
than 25% of the Company's issued Shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of reference in
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in
part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Wen (as
the chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Qiu Ke and Ms. Chen Yen Yung,
and one non-executive Director, namely Mr. An Jingwen.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process, risk management and
internal control systems, and review of the Group’s financial information. The
Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2024
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

AUDITOR

There was no change in auditor during the preceding three financial years
from the date of this annual report. A resolution will be submitted at the
2024 AGM to re-appoint ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Ji Kaiping
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 September 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and the management of the Company are committed to
maintaining and ensuring high standards of corporate governance as good
corporate governance can safeguard the interests of all Shareholders and
enhance corporate value. The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own
code of corporate governance. During the year ended 30 June 2024, the
Company was in compliance with all relevant and applicable code provisions
set out in the CG Code except for the deviation explained below.

The code provision

EEEERENR
EEERFAFEEEATHFTIRFRSERL
TEEBRKT RESREFEXE AEMEEDE
Rz G RIEATCEBE A RABERMEE
ERTAREAGZEEERT -BEZE
TMFEARB=THLEFE ARBEBETLEEE
BTRIFTE Z PR AR R R BB AT AR ST 1R
X PRt 2 AR BE 1B RS o

Reasons for the non-compliance and improvement actions took or to be taken

SFRMEX ARERARERIBERMZAETE
C.21 The Company has not appointed a chief executive officer as role and functions of chief executive

officer have been performed by all the executive Directors collectively. The Board believes that this

arrangement enables the Company to make and implement decisions promptly, and thus achieve the

Company's objectives effectively and efficiently in response to the changing environment. The Board

will continuously assess whether any change to this arrangement is necessary.
RRABUBRBETEHRE —HAITHAR 2 ACKBER2BATESHARBT EFSHEE It
ZHERRFEARREFHLAITRE RMBRESIMBRARTNER  UEH BN
RE - EFERFETLESEEH LRI ERERES-

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group's strategic planning and
development, and for determining the objectives, strategic and policies of the
Group while delegating day-to-day operations of the Group to management.
Besides, each member of the Board is expected to make a full and active
contribution to the Board's affairs and ensure that the Board acts in the best
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Board currently comprises eight members including, Mr. Ji Kaiping
(Chairman), Mr. Guo Peiyuan, Ms. Mao Na and Mr. Qiu Keshan as executive
Directors, Mr. An Jingwen as non-executive Director and Mr. Li Wen, Mr.
Qiu Ke and Ms. Chen Yen Yung as independent non-executive Directors.
One of the three independent non-executive Directors possesses appropriate
professional accounting qualifications and financial management expertise,
which complies with the requirement of the Listing Rules. Details of their
respective experiences and qualifications are included in the "“Directors’
Biographies” section of this annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (cont’'d)

The Board adopted and amended its board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) on 28 March 2014 and 28 December 2022, respectively. A
summary of the Board Diversity Policy is set out as follows:

—  The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance;

— The Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its
sustainable development;

—  Board diversity shall be considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

— Al Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board;

— In order to enhance the independence and diversity of the Board, the
Company should not have directors of a single gender, but should
appoint at least one director of the other gender; and

—  Gender diversity in the pipeline of potential director successors should be
ensured when developing or reviewing Board succession plans.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised eight Directors,
two of whom are female Directors. The Company targets to avoid a single
gender Board and will timely review the gender diversity of the Board based
on its own business model and specific needs. The Company believes that the
balance of gender in the Board would bring more inspiration to the Board
and enhance the business development of the Group. As at the date of this
annual report, the male to female gender ratio in the Company’s workforce
(including Directors and senior management) is 9:1.

The Board delegated certain duties under the Board Diversity Policy to the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will discuss and adopt
the above measurements when it reviewed the composition of the Board.
After assessing the suitability of the Directors’ skills and experience to the
Company’s business, the Nomination Committee considered that the existing
Board were suitably qualified with professional backgrounds and/or equipped
with extensive expertise for the purposes of providing direction to and
oversight of the Group'’s strategic and business in achieving its objectives.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy and considered that it had been implemented effectively
during the year ended 30 June 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (cont’'d)

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities since 24 March 2022.

The independent non-executive Directors ensure the Board accounts for
the interests of all Shareholders and that all issues are considered in an
objective manner. The Company has received annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors as regards their independence.
The Board has assessed their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and concluded that all independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships among the members of the Board. All
of them are free to exercise their individual judgment.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, the Directors should
participate in appropriate continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. All Directors are encouraged
to attend relevant training courses to ensure that they are fully aware of
the responsibilities and obligations of directors under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

All the Directors have participated in continuous professional development by
reading articles, training materials and updates as regards legal and regulatory
changes and matters of relevance to the Directors in the discharge of their
duties and provided a record of training they received for the year ended 30
June 2024 to the Company. The Company has also continuously updated
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETING

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Board held 6 meetings. The Board
also passed resolutions by way of written resolutions. The attendance of the
Directors to these Board meetings is set out in the section below headed
"Attendance at Board Meetings and General Meetings”.

The company secretary of the Company assists the chairman of the meeting
in preparing the agenda and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations
are followed. The company secretary of the Company also keeps detailed
minutes of each meeting, which are available to all the Directors for
inspection. Draft of Board minutes are circulated to all Directors for their
comments and approval as soon as practicable after the Board meetings.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETING (cont’d)

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information or retain independent professional advisors if
necessary. They also have unrestricted access to the advice and service of
the company secretary of the Company, who is responsible for providing the
Directors with Board papers and related materials and ensuring that Board
procedures are followed.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Company held 1 general meeting.
The attendance of each Director to the general meetings is set out in
the section below headed “Attendance at Board Meetings and General
Meetings”.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial Shareholder or
Director arise, the matter will be discussed in a physical meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolutions. Independent non-executive
Directors with no conflict of interest should present at the meeting dealing
with conflict issues. Board committees of the Company, including the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee,
all follow the applicable practices and procedures used in Board meetings for
committee meetings.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. The Company has not appointed a chief executive officer
as role and functions of chief executive officer have been performed by all
the executive Directors collectively. The Board believes that this arrangement
enables the Company to make and implement decisions promptly, and thus
achieve the Company’s objectives effectively and efficiently in response to
the changing environment. The Board will continuously assess whether any
change to this arrangement is necessary.

DIRECTORS’' TERM OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-
ELECTION

In accordance with Article 72(1) of the Articles, the Directors shall be elected
or replaced by the Company in general meeting and shall serve a term of
office of three years. A Director may serve consecutive terms if re-elected by
the Company in general meeting upon the expiration of his term. Article 71
of the Articles provides that Directors appointed either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company, and shall then be eligible for re—
appointment.

The non-executive Director and all independent non-executive Directors are
appointed for an initial term of one year, which is automatically renewable
for successive term of one year each commencing from the expiry of the then
current term of appointment, subject to termination by either party by serving
prior notice of no less than one month to the other party in writing. Each of
such appointments is subject to the retirement provision in the Articles.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct for
securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of
the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
required standards as set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended
30 June 2024.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct for
securities transactions by employees of the Company who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished inside information of the Company. No incident
of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant employees of the
Company was noted by the Company during the year ended 30 June 2024.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The current Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside information
announcements and other financial disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements. The Directors acknowledge their
responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 30 June 2024.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 57 to 63.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 20 December 2005 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code which are
available on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
formulation of the remuneration policy, reviewing and recommending to the
Board the annual remuneration policy of the Directors and members of senior
management as well as reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
has adopted the approach made under E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management.

Meetings of the Remuneration Committee shall be held at least once a year
and as and when required. The Remuneration Committee currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Qiu Ke (as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Li Wen and Ms. Chen Yen
Yung and one non-executive Director, namely Mr. An Jingwen.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Remuneration Committee held
1 meeting, during which the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration policy and structure for the Directors and senior management
of the Company.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (cont’'d)

The attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee to the
Remuneration Committee meeting is set out in the section below headed
"Attendance at Board Meetings and General Meetings”.

The remuneration of the senior management (comprising Directors) of the

Company for the year ended 30 June 2024 by band is set out below:

Remuneration Band
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Number of
individuals

A#

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000

Further details of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 30 June
2024 are disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 7 July 2008 with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code which are available on
the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size, composition and diversity (including but not limited to
skills, experience and background, geographical and industry experience,
ethnicity, gender, knowledge and length of service) of the Board; to
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorship; to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors; and to review the Board Diversity Policy and the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing such policy.

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed without undue
disruption, there should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure
for selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors, as well as plans
in place for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including periodical
review of such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional
director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-appointment
of Directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon the recommendation
of the proposed candidate by the Nomination Committee.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (cont'd)

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is qualified
shall be his ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Company and contribute to the diversity of the Board as well as the effective
carrying out by the Board of the responsibilities which, in particular, are set
out as follows:—

e  participating in Board meetings to bring an independent judgment on
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standards of conducts;

e taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

e serving on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee (in the case of candidate for non-executive
Director) and other relevant Board committees, if invited,;

e bringing a range of business and financial experience to the Board,
giving the Board and any committees on which he serves the benefit
of his skills, expertise, and varied backgrounds and qualifications and
diversity through attendance and participation in the Board/committee
meetings;

e scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate
goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting of performance;

e ensuring the committee on which he serves to perform their powers and
functions conferred on them by the Board; and

e conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the
constitutional documents of the Company or imposed by legislation or
the Listing Rules, where appropriate.

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, his/her independence shall be assessed in accordance with, among
other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to
any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange from time to time.
Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education, qualifications
and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he/she has the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise for filling the office of an independent non-executive
Director with such qualifications or expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (cont'd)

Meetings of the Nomination Committee shall be held at least once a year and
as and when required. The Nomination Committee currently comprises one
executive Director, namely Mr. Ji Kaiping (as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee) and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li
Wen, Mr. Qiu Ke and Ms. Chen Yen Yung.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Nomination Committee held 1
meeting, during which the Nomination Committee:—

e reviewed the composition, size and structure of the Board;

e assessed the independence of each independent non-executive Director;
and

e considered the re-election of the Directors.

The attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee to the
Nomination Committee meeting is set out in the section below headed
"Attendance at Board Meetings and General Meetings”.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has had the Audit Committee since 2004 with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code which are available on the
respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee include reviewing and
supervising the Group’s financial reporting process, risk management and
internal control systems, reviewing the Group’s financial information, and

making recommendations to the Board.

Meetings of the Audit Committee shall be held at least twice a year and
as and when required. The Audit Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Wen (as the chairman
of the Audit Committee), Mr. Qiu Ke and Ms. Chen Yen Yung and one non-
executive Director, namely Mr. An Jingwen.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (cont'd)

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings,

during which the Audit Committee:—

reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the eighteen months ended 30 June 2023 and the interim financial
statements of the Group for the six months ended 31 December 2023
and the related results announcements, documents and other matters or
issues raised by the Company’s auditor;

considered the fees, independence and scope of work of the Company’s
auditor and made recommendations to the Board,

discussed and confirmed with the management the effectiveness of the
Group's financial reporting process, risk management and internal control
systems, and reviewed the risk management and internal control systems;
and

reviewed the Company's compliance with the CG code.

The attendance of the members of the Audit Committee to these Audit
Committee meetings is set out in the section below headed “Attendance at

Board Meetings and General Meetings”.

ATTENDANCE AT BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL
MEETINGS

Attendance of each Director at all the Board meetings, Board Committee
meetings and general meetings held during the year ended 30 June 2024 is

set out as follows:

EZZET @
BHE_Z_NENB=tHILEFE BZEET
ERTMAEHS HEEREET -

e ERAEEHE_Z_=FB=+HL
TNEENGEHHFREAEEEHGE"S
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iR 2 HMEBHEE ;

o BRANBRHMZEM BIUMKI(FEH
B> UREFEFREEEER

e HEBEENRAEIALIERMBRIER
R EE RN EZERBAE WML g
REEREERANBEERS &

o BHARABTEEERTRIMNER-

}

ERZEENEBHFEZEENEEGEENGE
MER TN EFEEEZARRAGHFEB R —
o

EFEERRRRATHERNR
SERLERBE_S-MEAAS+ELER

BTN AEZEER EFZE9EEAERR
RENEREIIMT :

Remuneration Nomination Audit
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
iWzsg REZEE BnZ8E
EE - 6 S e BEAE
Executive Directors WETEE
M. Ji Kaiping (Chairman) RETEE (ZR) 6/6 - 11 - 17
Mr. Guo Peiyuan PEERE 6/6 - - - 17
Ms. Mao Na Efgt 5/6 - - = 1
Mr. Qiu Keshan ErlESE 5/6 - - - 11
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. An Jingwen ZREN KA 5/6 17 - ) 17
Independent Non-executive Directors BiIFHTES
Mr. Li Wen ENRE 6/6 11 11 22 11
Mr. Qiu Ke il e 6/6 17 17 22 7
Ms. Chen Yen Yung BEZLT 6/6 17 11 W 17
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company seeks to maintain a balance between meeting Shareholders’
expectations and prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend
policy. The Company's dividend policy aims to allow Shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profit and for the Company to retain adequate
reserves for the Group’s future growth. In proposing any dividend payout,
the Company would consider various factors including but not limited
to the Group's overall results of operation, financial condition, working
capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements, liquidity position,
future expansion plans, general economic conditions, business cycle of the
Group's business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of the Group.
Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of the dividends will
be subject to any restrictions under all applicable requirements under the
Companies Ordinance, the Articles, the Listing Rules and any other applicable
laws and regulations. The Company does not have any predetermined
dividend distribution proportion or distribution ratio. Any future declarations
of dividends may or may not reflect the Company’s historical declarations of
dividends and will be at the absolute discretion of the Directors.

The Board will continually review the dividend policy and reserves the right in
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the
dividend policy at any time, and the dividend policy shall in no way constitute
a legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends will be paid in
any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a
dividend at any time or from time to time.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the remuneration paid/payable to
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, the auditor of the Company, is set out below:

Fﬂ%%ﬁ
BE_S-_MEAA=TALEE BN EN
$@1ﬁ%%¢[ﬁ¥§ﬁ%$ﬁ%ﬁ@@1m
M&mHmT :

Fee paid/payable

Bt EHER

HK$

BIT

Audit services BIZR% 980,000
Audit of the financial statements BRI ERE

Non-audit services JEBIZIRFE 370,000

Internal control review and risk assessment consulting
Environmental, social and governance reporting advisory
Non-assurance services

JEERBRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Audit Committee is responsible for the review of the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report, and make recommendation to the Board, while Board is also
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as set out below:

(a)

48

to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on corporate
governance;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the Company;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Company and Directors;
and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report by reference to the recommendation
of the Audit Committee.
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MECHANISM TO ENSURE THAT THE BOARD OBTAINS
INDEPENDENT OPINIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

The Board has established the following mechanism to ensure that the Board
obtains independent opinions and perspectives:

(i) where appropriate, the Company shall arrange suitable and sufficient
resources to cover any matters relating to the obtaining of an
independent advice or opinion by the Board, including but not limited
to the engagement of a legal team or any other professionals for such
purpose, where appropriate, at the Group's expenses;

(i) where appropriate, the Directors shall give at least three working
days’ notice to the company secretary of the Company to obtain an
independent advice or opinion, including but not limited to engaging a
professional team for such purpose;

(iii) the Board is required to review its structure, size, composition (including
skills, knowledge and experience) and diversity policy at least annually
to ensure that the composition of the Board complies with the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules including maintaining a balanced
mix of executive and non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) so that the Board has a strong element of
independence which can effectively exercise independent judgment; and

(iv) if all the independent non-executive Directors have served on the Board
for more than nine years, the Company should consider to appoint a new
independent non-executive director at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
said mechanism and will continue to monitor the implementation and
effectiveness of such mechanism on an annual basis.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board’s Responsibilities for the Risk Management and
Internal Control Systems

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems and oversees such systems on an ongoing
basis, while ensuring a review of the effectiveness of these systems of the
Group is conducted at least annually. The scope of such review covers all
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls.
The Group's risk management and internal control systems are designed to
managing risks rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL(cont'd)
The Board’s Responsibilities for the Risk Management and
Internal Control Systems (cont'd)

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant authorities) of

risk management and internal control to the Audit Committee, and the

management has provided a confirmation to the Audit Committee and the

Board on the effectiveness of these systems for the year ended 30 June 2024.

Main Features of the Risk Management System
The Company recognises that good risk management is essential for the long-

term and sustainable growth of a business. The Group's risk management

structure and the major responsibilities of each role of the structure are

summarized below:

[ B 1 B P BB BR 4E ()
EXREHAREERABEZERARNEE
(8

EZEERHERREERNEEZENRE (ERFE
BN BREZEZEG MEEEEREKRESR
EREFERIZERAMNBE_T_NFRA
= THLEFENBERIE.

REERARNEERGR
FRBEBR TENEREENEBRAASE
URIFFEZ - FERNRAREERBEREER
EABNESREMAWT

Role Major Responsibilities

phc:] FEWE

Board — determines the business strategies and objectives of the Group, and evaluates and determines the
EE5g nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives;

50

— HEAEBZEBRREASR RTHUEEAERRENRRBRMERZANERMEERE

E;

internal control systems;

oversees management in the design, implement and monitoring of the risk management and

— HEEEENRBEERABEERBOR  BHRET;

oversees the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis and

ensures the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk management and

internal control systems;

- FEEEAEENEREERABEZERAAABREARADRIAMFSERAMNAREERA

BEIZER
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (cont'd) [ P& B I B A9 B BE 42 ()

Main Features of the Risk Management System (cont’d) REEEAZNEESE @

Role Major Responsibilities

p:chc:] FTEWE

Audit Committee — reviews the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems at least

BEZERG annually, and such review should cover all material controls including financial, operational and
compliance controls;

— EVEERSNAEEAREEANSEERANERN M RZERNEBEEMBEAEE EM
BEEBERARER;

— reviews the emerging risks of the Group annually, and the risk management and the internal
controls in place to address those risks;

- SEERAEEFELNRR TEBRMEERANBHEZRRZERRE ;

—  discusses the risk management and internal control systems with management of the Group to
ensure that the management of the Group has performed its duty to have an effective systems. The
discussion should include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function and to rectify
any weaknesses that may be revealed from time to time;

— BALEEEEREEIRAREERRANGEEZERG UEGRAEEEEEEBTERBRERIBNR
oA REOEAEENESHRYBERRBEFAER BITERE LSRR  FillFZRE KA M
TEEEERE WA E BRI IR AERISEIE ;

— considers major investigation findings on risk management and internal control matters as delegated
by the Board or on its own initiative and the Group’s management'’s response to these findings;

- BESENZRIIH EREREREEENSEESENEERATERURAEEEEEY
ZEFRZEE;

Management — designs, implements and ongoing assesses the Group's risk management and internal control
BIEE systems;

— W EBERAFEFLEIEENRREERABEIZRR

- gives prompt responses to, and follow up the findings on risk management and internal control
matters as delegated by the Board, on Audit Committee’s initiative or raised by the external risk
management and internal control review advisor(s);

- REFENZR BREZEFEFHNIINBEREERANINEZWATERREL > HRREE RN EEE
EEEWNGER RO ELRE ;

—  provides confirmation to the Board and the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems;

- MESEAEZZETHRIRAREERANNBEERZRANERML ;

Risk Owners — ultimately accountable for ensuring the risk is managed appropriately; and
EEEE A - ERREERFRERGIEEEE &

responsible for, or oversight of, activities to manage each identified risk.
EEXEEEESEHI AR ES-

In addition, the Company engaged ZHONGHUI ANDA Risk Services Limited o RABEZEFERERRERARARS
as its internal control adviser to conduct a review on the effectiveness of <P EPEERAME > URH B REKREE kAL
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group and provide EERARNAERMERAFATRHBEERER

recommendations to the Company.

EXMEERERARAR 51
2024FF I



Corporate Governance Report
ERER/ERS

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (cont'd) B[ EIE KA ZBELIE @)

Main Features of the Risk Management System (cont'd) EREEAGANTIERL @

The Company has in place an internal control system which enables the AATEEHMAPEITLZGK  ZE2HKERERFE
Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency of BRABEESEEULREN - WBRETEZELTS
operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable A EREZFRBEE - ZELEERU T ©

laws and regulations. The components of the framework are shown as follow:

Control Environment

B IRIRE

Risk Assess

[ B 5 ¥

Control Activities

B 2R B

Information and

ment -

Communication

Bk BRE

Monitoring

BE
o >N

a set of standards, processes and structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal control
across the Group.

—ERETHIERRNESETRHEEENER ZF RS-

a dynamic and iterative process for identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group's objectives,
forming a basis for determining how risks should be managed.

—EEEERIRIZ A e D AT R A S B R - T2 a0 E W A B I R R R AR5 o

actions established by policies and procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.

REBRKREFEILITE UERITEERAFEERBERNVEARPAELAIET

internal and external communication to provide the Group with the information needed to carry out
day-to-day controls.

REB RSN ER BB U M A ERRHIETT A BEEFMBNER -

ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether each components of internal control is
present and functioning.
FERERNTEUTHANES SEENE TRREFAELEFLESR -

Process used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Significant Risks :#5«iFLR BB EXEIEFRERNIERF

Identification

E3ll

Evaluation

SR

Manageme
(==

52

nt -

identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks that could affect the achievement of
objectives.

HAEBREEA EBERARTECEERERVEAR-

analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

DT RBRR P SENE Fe 2 B AR FE ST R PR AR S o

consider the risk responses, ensure effective communication with the Board in respect of the risks
and on-going monitor the residual risks.

TRAREY BRERAEBEZENARETANEBRFEEERFRR -
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (cont'd)
Process used to Review the Effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems and to Resolve
Material Internal Control Defects

Risk assessment report and internal control review report are submitted
to the Audit Committee and the Board annually. The Board, through the
Audit Committee, had perform a review on the effectiveness of the Group'’s
risk management and internal control systems, including, but not limited
to, (i) the changes, in the nature and extent of significant risks and the
Company’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the external
environment, (ii) the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring
of risks and of the internal control systems, (iii) the extent and frequency of
communication of monitoring results to the Audit Committee and the Board
which enables them to assess control of the Company and the effectiveness
of risk management, (iv) significant control failings or weaknesses that have
been identified, and (v) the effectiveness of the Company's processes for
financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance, and considered that the
risk management and internal control systems were effective and adequate
for the year ended 30 June 2024. No significant areas of concern that might
affect the financial, operational, compliance controls, and risk management
functions of the Group were identified. The scope of such review covers the
adequacy of resources, qualification and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting functions and their attitude against
internal control of the Group. The Board will continue to work with the
management to discuss and follow-up on the status of remediation of the
internal control weaknesses and to monitor the risks of the Group in the
coming years.

Procedures and Internal Controls for the Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company is aware of the relevant
obligations under the SFO and the Listing Rules. Certain reasonable measures
have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to
prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which
include:

— access of inside information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis;

— transmission of inside information in electronic form should be
password-protected;

—  prohibit employees to discuss inside information in public area;
— code names are assigned to confidential projects so that any reference

to them would not be linked to the projects themselves to minimize
possibilities of unintentional leakage;
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (cont'd)

Procedures and Internal Controls for the Handling and

Dissemination of Inside Information (cont’d)

— trainings or briefings are provided to employees who will be in
possession of inside information to ensure that they are fully conversant
with their obligations to preserve confidentiality with reasonable care;

— confidentiality agreements are in place before the Group enters into
significant negotiations; and

— officers and employees other than the designated representative
are prohibited to speak externally on behalf of the Company when
communicating with external parties such as the media, analysts or
investors.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company does not have an internal audit department. The Board
has reviewed the need for an internal audit function and is of the view
that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of the
Group, as opposed to diverting resources to establish a separate internal
audit department, it would be more cost effective to appoint external
independent professionals to perform independent review of the adequacy
and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group. Nevertheless, the Board will continue to review at least annually the
need for an internal audit department.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external professional company secretarial services
provider, Uni-1 Corporate Services Limited (“Uni-1"), to provide compliance
and full range of company secretarial services to the Group in order to assist
the Group to cope with the changing regulatory environment and to suit
difference commercial needs.

Ms. Mak Yuk Kiu (“Ms. Mak"), the representative of Uni-1, has been
appointed as the company secretary of the Company with effect from 1
October 2022. Her primary corporate contact person at the Company is Mr.
Jason Shi, the assistant to the Board.

For the year ended 30 June 2024, Ms. Mak has undertaken not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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THE SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS TO CONVENE A
GENERAL MEETING AND PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS BY
SHAREHOLDERS

Pursuant to Article 48 of the Articles, general meetings of the Company shall
be convened by the Board on the requisition of members pursuant to the
provisions of the statutes. Pursuant to sub-section 567(1) of the Companies
Ordinance, directors required under section 566 of the Companies Ordinance
to call a general meeting must call a meeting within 21 days after the date
on which they become subject to the requirement. A general meeting called
under sub-section 567(1) of the Companies Ordinance must be held on a date
not more than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the meeting.

Shareholders holding not less than 2.5% of the total voting rights of all
shareholders or no less than 50 shareholders who have a right to vote on
the resolution at the annual general meeting to which the requisition relates
can submit a written requisition or in electronic form to move a resolution at
the annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to section 615 of the
Companies Ordinance. The requisition must state the resolution, accompanied
by a statement with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution of the business to be dealt with at the general meeting of the
Company. It must also be signed by all requisitionists for the attention of the
Company not less than 6 weeks before the annual general meeting to which
the requisition relates.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company follows its shareholders’ communication policy (the
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) for disclosing relevant information
to the Shareholders in a timely manner. Annual and interim reports offer
comprehensive operational and financial performance information to the
Shareholders and the annual general meeting of the Company provides
a forum for Shareholders to exchange views directly with the Board. The
Company regards the annual general meeting of the Company as an
important event and all Directors, senior management and external auditors
make an effort to attend the annual general meeting of the Company to
address Shareholders’ queries. All the Shareholders are given a minimum of
21 clear days' notice of the date and venue of the annual general meeting of
the Company. The Company supports the CG Code’s principle to encourage
Shareholders’ participation. The Company has also complied with the

requirements concerning voting by poll under the Listing Rules.

The Board had reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy during the year ended 30 June 2024. In
light of the above, the Board considered the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy had been effectively implemented during the year ended 30 June 2024.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
The Articles are available at the Company’'s website at www.irasia.com/listco/
hk/nur and the Stock Exchange's website. No changes have been made to the
Articles during the year ended 30 June 2024.

PROCEDURES BY WHICH ENQUIRES MAY BE PUT TO
THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the company secretary of the Company by mail at the
Company’s registered office at Suites 1106-08, 11th Floor, The Chinese Bank
Building, 61-65 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong. The company secretary
of the Company is responsible for forwarding communications to the Board
and/or relevant Board committees of the Company, where appropriate, to
answer the Shareholders’ questions.

PROCEDURES FOR NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS FOR
ELECTION

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director
are available and accessible on the Company’s website at www.irasia.com/
listco/hk/nur.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

/L

I ZHONGHUI
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
NATIONAL UNITED RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED
BxRBaERERERAGE

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of National United
Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to 139, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 30 June 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Borrowings

No sufficient evidence has been provided to satisfy ourselves due to limited
supporting documents provided by management and unable to obtain direct
audit confirmation, in relation to the existence, rights and obligations and
valuation of the borrowings, we were not able to satisfy ourselves as to
whether the gain on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately HK$37,660,000
in relation to the balance of other borrowing for the eighteen months ended
30 June 2023 is fairly stated.
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Any adjustments to the figures as described above might have a
consequential effect on the Group's results and cash flows for the period from
1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023, and the related disclosures thereof in the
consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Company in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our qualified opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements which
mentions that the Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$10,223,000 and
net cash outflow from operating activities of approximately HK$111,687,000
for the year ended 30 June 2024, and as at 30 June 2024, the Group had net
current liabilities of approximately HK$147,347,000. These conditions indicate
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
In addition to the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section
and the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.
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Goodwill
Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group is required to annually test the amount of goodwill for
impairment. This annual impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of goodwill of approximately HK$26,488,000 as
at 30 June 2024 is material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group’'s impairment test involves application of judgement
and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Assessing the identification of the related cash generating units;
Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use calculations;
Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow projections;
Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions (including
revenue growth, profit margins, terminal growth rates and discount

rates);

Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuer engaged by the Group;

Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with the
external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation process,
methodologies used and market evidence to support significant
judgments and assumptions applied in the valuation model; and

Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for goodwill is supported
by the available evidence.
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(ii) Trade receivables
Refer to Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables for impairment.
This impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance of
trade receivables of approximately HK$78,107,000 as at 30 June 2024
are material to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the
Group's impairment test involves application of judgement and is based
on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Assessing the Group's procedures on granting credit limits and credit
periods to customers;

- Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction history with the
customers;

—  Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

—  Assessing ageing of the debts;

- Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

—  Checking subsequent settlements from the customers; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group's exposure to credit risk in the
consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for trade receivables is
supported by the available evidence.
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(iii) Property, plant and equipment (“PPE”), right-of-use assets

(“ROU") and intangible assets (“IA")
Refer to Notes 16, 17 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of PPE, ROU and IA for impairment. This
impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance of PPE,
ROU and IA of approximately HK$131,144,000, HK$32,159,000 and
HK$27,931,000, respectively, as at 30 June 2024 and the impairment of
PPE, ROU and IA recognised for the year of approximately HK$9,014,000,
HK$1,558,000 and nil, respectively, are material to the consolidated
financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment test involves
application of judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

— Understanding management'’s process for identifying impairment
indicators;

— Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions (including
second hand market price, comparables and its data source);

—  Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the fair value less costs of
disposal calculations;

— Assessing the identification of the related cash generating units;

—  Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use calculations;

- Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow projections;

— Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions (including
revenue growth, profit margins, terminal growth rates and discount

rates);

- Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuer engaged by the Group;

—  Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with the
external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation process,
methodologies used and market evidence to support significant
judgments and assumptions applied in the valuation model; and

—  Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment tests for PPE, ROU and IA are
supported by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the Company’s annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section above, we
were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence about the borrowing.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other information
is materially misstated with respect to this matter.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website at:
https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-views/auditre.
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

REPORT ON OTHER MATTERS UNDER SECTIONS
407(2) AND 407(3) OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE

In respect alone of the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of
our report:

e we were unable to determine whether adequate accounting records had
been kept; and

e we have not obtained all the information and explanations that, to the
best of our knowledge and belief, are necessary and material for the
purpose of the audit.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Chi Hoi

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07268
Hong Kong, 30 September 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

REEmR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

Year ended

1 January 2022

Notes 30 June 2024 to 30 June 2023
85=E =2
—EmE —A—H=
~NB=+H TEI=F
k2 IEEFE ANB=1+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue g 8 84,738 116,293
Cost of revenue W 2 B 2 (78,427) (143,056)
Gross profit/(loss) EF(EH) 6,311 (26,763)
Other income =R N 9 33,526 331,830
Administrative and other operating TR EMKERS
expenses (32,434) (51,290)
Impairment losses on various assets ZIHEERBEEHIE (7,838) (94,977)
(Loss)/profit from operations B (F518) EA (435) 158,800
Share of loss of associates DMEHE A BIREE - (201)
Finance cost ME A 10 (6,882) (12,630)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBE QBT - 37,660
Fair value loss on financial liabilities BAFESHABGZZEHEAE
at FVTPL ZAFEEE (728) -
(Loss)/profit before tax BRI AT (B548) & A (8,045) 183,629
Income tax expense FriSiRBE 11 (2,178) (1,546)
(Loss)/profit for the year/period F R (518) HF 12 (10,223) 182,083
Attributable to: MTF AL
Owners of the Company KANBTEB A (8,629) 201,759
Non-controlling interests JEER S (1,594) (19,676)
(10,223) 182,083
(Losses)/earnings per share AR ANEM
attributable to owners of the Sk (5B18) &F)
Company 14
Basic (HK cents per share) R (FREW (0.21) 6.63
Diluted (HK cents per share) B (SREWN (0.21) 6.63
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BEEIAR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

n\7|-\

Year ended

1 January 2022

Notes 30 June 2024 to 30 June 2023
BHE - —
—EMmE —B—H=
~A=+H TEC=F
g3 ILEE ~A=+H
HK$000 HK$'000
THET FHBT
(Loss)/profit for the year/period £ /78R (§518) 5 12 (10,223) 182,083
Other comprehensive Htt2mEmKRA ~ (§518) :
income/(loss):
Items that may be reclassified to BIREEM P EERm 2 EE -
profit or loss.
Exchange differences on translation HMEBIINEBMEE
of foreign operations PERELR 3,423 (10,667)
Exchange differences reclassified to HENBRBEREMDEE
profit or loss on disposal of BaERELR
subsidiaries - 65
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for E/HHW%E (&518) WA
the year/period 4878 (6,800) 171,481
Total comprehensive (loss)/income UTATEMGE HRNEE
for the year/period (518) IR A 48 %8
attributable to:
Owners of the Company EAN/NEIEZZ= DN (5,741) 187,109
Non-controlling interests IR (1,059) (15,628)
(6,800) 171,481
BERMEERERERAT 65
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBIRRR

As at 30 June 2024 —Z _UFENB=1+H

As at As at
Notes 30 June 2024 30 June 2023
MRIEZWE ATET=F
k2 ~NA=+H NA=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment LE NN = 16 131,144 29,647
Right-of-use assets FCRAREE 17 32,159 37,920
Deferred tax asset RIEIRIBEE E 18 5,380 4,786
Intangible assets EmLEE 19 27,931 -
Goodwill me 20 26,488 10,685
Investments in associates REEATNRE 22 - -
Prepayments A RIE 24 31,539 97,813
254,641 180,851
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables FE U B 5 =R 23 78,107 20,305
Prepayments, deposits and other TEARIE ~ 2% K HL MR IR IB
receivables 24 93,577 8,412
Bank and cash balances RITRIREERE 25 45,758 135,575
217,442 164,292
Current liabilities =R
Other payables and accruals H (I RIE K FE st E A 26 116,119 125,104
Contract liabilities HHEE 27 3,236 -
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BATFESFABGZEMEE 28 20,108 -
Borrowings (=)= 29 68,934 38,550
Lease liabilities HEESE 17 146,832 145,942
Tax payable FETHRIE 9,560 5,372
364,789 314,968
Net current liabilities MENBEFEE (147,347) (150,676)
Total assets less current liabilities #EERAEERE 107,294 30,175
Non-current liabilities EREBER
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBEEE 18 3,767 -
Lease liabilities HEESE 17 278 526
4,045 526
NET ASSETS BEZE 103,249 29,649
66 National United Resources Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBIRARR

As at 30 June 2024 —Z_UFENB=1+H

As at As at
Notes 30 June 2024 30 June 2023
RIZE-WNE A=
Vokza NA=+H NA=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Capital and reserves A Tt e

Share capital B4 30 3,587,769 3,507,369
Reserves EX] (3,444,532) (3,438,791)

Equity attributable to owners of the KNBEB NEHER
Company 143,237 68,578
Non-controlling interests JEEERG RS (39,988) (38,929)
TOTAL EQUITY g 103,249 29,649

Approved by the board of directors of the Company on 30 September 2024 &EXRATEEFTEN T _MENL=+BHHLZKIL

and were signed on its behalf by: AU TESAREE !
Ji Kaiping Guo Peiyuan
“CHRT MIFE
Director Director
S EBZE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mamE2ER

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

VAL 2PN
Equity Foreign
component of currency Non-
Share convertible translation  Accumulated controlling Total
capital bonds reserve losses Total interests equity
ABRRESZ

23 RS SMEBERE RitBHA st FFER R et 4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FER FTET FER TEn TEr TER
At 1 January 2022 RZE--%-A—-1 3,178,754 62,077 6,427 (3,694,404) (447,146) (23,301) (470,447)
Profit/(loss) for the period HBAET/ (8 - - - 201,759 201,759 (19,676) 182,083
Other comprehensive loss for the period HREM2EESE - - (14,650) - (14,650) 4,048 (10,602)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the period ~ HiRZ T (§518) /WAKEE - - (14,650) 201,759 187,109 (15,628) 171,481
Proceeds from share subscription (note 30 (b)) RRIPBERFTGRNIA (H122300)) 240,603 - - - 240,603 - 240,603
Proceed from open offer (note 30 (b)) ARBEFGIE (W:2300)) 65212 - - - 65212 - 65212
Issued upon debt restructuring (note 30 (b)) REREERR BT (WaE300) 22,800 - - - 22,800 - 22,800

Transfer from equity component of convertible  FEJREFERBIBAR R
bonds to accumulated losses - (62,077) - 62,077 - - -

At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 RIBZ=£XB=+HR
ZZZ=EtR-H 3,507,369 - (8,223) (3,430,568) 68,578 (38,929) 29,649
Loss for the year EREA - - = (8,629) (8,629) (1,594) (10,223)
Other comprehensive income for the year EREMEBERA - - 2,888 - 2,888 535 3,423
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ER2ERN/ (FE) E8 - - 2,888 (8,629) (5,741) (1,059) (6,800)
Proceeds from share subscription (note 30 (b)) WRADSRIE TG TAIE (BaE3000) 80,400 - - - 80,400 = 80,400
At 30 June 2024 RIZZMERA=1H 3,587,769 - (5,335) (3,439,197) 143,237 (39,988) 103,249
68 National United Resources Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FRRERE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

Year ended

“HERAZTHLEFE

1 January 2022

Notes 30 June 2024 to 30 June 2023
HE =B
—EMmE —B—H=
~B=+H —ET=F
Kzt IHEE ~A=+H
HK$000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Cash flows from operating activities & ZHZIREHE
(Loss)/profit before tax bR (B538) /& A (8,045) 183,629
Adjustments for: TMTFIEEFRERAE
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BERZEITE
equipment 11,194 18,657
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRESERE 3,963 9,414
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEH 3,352 123
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE W BB W - (37,660)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWZE KRB RZHW R
plant and equipment (1,414) (2,267)
Gain on reversal of bad debt for Hfth pE R T IR BR O] U 2
other receivables (26,772) -
Share of losses of associates DL EATEE - 201
Gain on debt restructuring Tﬁf&‘%zﬂﬂﬁl* - (328,461)
Net foreign exchange gains DU R ER (2,717) -
Fair value loss on financial liabilities ?ﬁ’&:FfEquk?E i 2 E Rl
at FVTPL BEZAFERHIE 728 -
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment FEW E S CRERR)
loss on trade receivables AR (3,450) 10,081
Impairment loss on other receivables Hth WG IR B8 716 3,118
Impairment losses on goodwill EmEREREE - 23,920
Impairment losses on property, ME- -BERREREBE
plant and equipment 9,014 38,832
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets FCRESERNEBERE 1,558 19,026
Interest income ) BUWA (2,064) (622)
Interest expenses FMEMXZ 6,853 12,617
Operating cash flows before working capital 2B & & & a1~
changes KEIRERE (7,084) (49,392)
Change in trade receivables FEUR B 5 F & &) (5,235) 24,609
Change in prepayments, deposits and FENRIEZER
other receivables HittFEW = IBE ) (53,106) 9,699
Change in other payables and accruals HthENRIBRESTEREH (46,262) (19,512)
Cash used in operations REFAZzRE (111,687) (34,596)
Income tax paid BENER = -
Net cash used in operating activities L& ZHFAREFE (111,687) (34,596)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

maRERE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

Year ended

1 January 2022

Notes 30 June 2024 to 30 June 2023
BHE - ——
—EMmE —B—H=
~B=+H —E=F
k=3 ILEE ~A=+H
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Cash flows from investing activities REFHZHRERE
Interest received BUFIS 2,064 622
Deposits for acquisition of property, WEME BEMLREZES
plant and equipment - (88,916)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B EYZE K E K& # (34,560) -
Acquisition of a shareholding in associates U B B & A B] R A = (189)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME - BERREZ
plant and equipment Fri8 I8 3,870 2,267
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition WHERBRAB ZRE ML REE
of subsidiaries 32 (c) (49,314) -
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HENBRBZREMAFEE
of subsidiaries 32 (b) - 101
Net cash used in investing activities REEFBFARSRE (77,940) (86,115)
Cash flows from financing activities FIEZEFZIRENE
Proceeds from new borrowings WEEFTEMIE 129,372 -
Repayment of borrowings BEREE (116,125) (7,237)
Repayment of non-convertible bonds BIEF R ES - (5,054)
Repayment of convertible bonds BIEF R ES - (24,139)
Net proceeds from issue of shares BITRIDPIISRIEFEE 30 (b) 80,400 240,603
Net proceeds from the open offer NHEBEMENIESE - 65,212
Repayment of lease liabilities BEEEEE (580) (5,709)
Net cash generated from financing RIEEZHREBRSFE
activities 93,067 263,676
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and REERZEFEFLERZ
cash equivalents GR) /B EE (96,560) 142,965
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXEH o HE 6,743 (9,526)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F/BNZRER
of year/period £RIREEE 135,575 2,136
Cash and cash equivalents at end FHERZERER
of year/period ERNELEH 45,758 135,575
Analysis of cash and RERZERRESBERZ M
cash equivalents
Bank and cash balances RITRIREERE 45,758 135,575
70 National United Resources Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

GENERAL INFORMATION

National United Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability. The address of its
registered office and principal place of business is Suites 1106-08, 11th
Floor, The Chinese Bank Building, 61-65 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong
Kong. The Company's shares (the “Shares”) are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
and trading in the shares of the Company had been suspended since 1

August 2016 and has been resumed on 10 March 2022.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of its subsidiaries are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

During the eighteen months period ended 30 June 2023, the Company
changed its financial year end date from 31 December to 30 June in
order to rationalise and mobilise its resources with higher efficiency
for the preparation of results announcement as well as reports. The
consolidated financial statements cover a twelve months period ended
30 June 2024 and the comparative financial statements cover an
eighteen months period ended 30 June 2023. The comparative amounts
are therefore not entirely comparable.

Going concern

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$10,223,000 and net
cash outflow from operating activities of approximately HK$111,687,000
for the year ended 30 June 2024, and as at 30 June 2024, the Group
had net current liabilities of approximately HK$147,347,000. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) have given careful consideration to the future liquidity
and performance of the Group and its available sources of finance in
assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources to
continue as a going concern.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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B RMIEE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

72

BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont'd)

Going concern (cont'd)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis. In the opinion of the Directors, the Group should be able
to continue as a going concern taking into consideration of the follows:

(i) financial support from certain/some directors of the Company at a
level sufficient to finance the working capital requirements of the
Group;

(i) the Group is expected to be profitable and continue to generate
operating cash inflows from its future business operations; and

(iii) the creditors intentionally agreed to settle the lease liabilities by

issuing convertible bonds of the Group.

Based on the aforesaid factors, the Directors are satisfied that the
Group will have sufficient financial resources to meet all the Group’s
financial obligations and to sustain the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in the foreseeable future. The Directors are therefore of
the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. Should the Group be unable to
continue as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to
the consolidated financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as
current assets and liabilities, respectively.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting period beginning on 1 July
2023. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards; Hong
Kong Accounting Standards; and Interpretations. The adoption of these
new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the
Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements and amounts reported for the current year and prior
periods.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective. The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of these new HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state
whether these new HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results of
operations and financial position.

National United Resources Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"). These
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollars
("HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of key assumptions and estimates. It also
requires the management of the Group (the “Management”) to exercise
its judgments in the process of applying the accounting policies. The
areas involving critical judgments and areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to these consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 30 June. Subsidiaries are
entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when the
Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity's
returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights
as well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to determine
whether it has control. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date the
control ceases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Consolidation (cont’d)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets of that
subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
and consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and consolidated statement of comprehensive income as an
allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between the non-controlling interests and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a
subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is measured
at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration. Acquisition-
related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the
costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable assets
and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company's share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase
which is attributed to the Company.

74 National United Resources Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Business combination and goodwill (cont'd)

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held equity
interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value
and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss. The fair value is added to the cost of acquisition to calculate the
goodwill.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Goodwill
is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The method of
measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of other
assets as stated in the accounting policy “Impairment of assets” below.
Impairment losses of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or
loss and are not subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured
at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary's identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint control
over those policies. The existence and effect of potential voting rights
that are currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting
rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing whether the
Group has significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting
right contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements by the equity method and is initially recognised at cost.
Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the
cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is
tested for impairment together with the investment at the end of each
reporting period when there is objective evidence that the investment
is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised
in consolidated profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 4. EXGEHEBER @

Associates (cont'd)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of the post-
acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the consolidated
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the
Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share
of the profits equals the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a loss of
significant influence represents the difference between (i) the fair value
of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that associate and (ii) the Group's share of the net assets
of that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating to that associate
and any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the
Group continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the
retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its associates
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong Dollars, which is the Company's functional and
presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Foreign currency translation (cont’d)
(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

()

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency on initial recognition using the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation
policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the dates when
the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have
a functional currency different from the Company's presentation
currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency as
follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the
exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

(i) All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the foreign

currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a
foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the period in
which they are incurred.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over the
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates
are as follows:
Leasehold improvements 20%-33%
Building 5%
Computer equipment 20%
Motor vehicles and trucks 6%-25%
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed
and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
Leases
The Group as lessee
Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding lease
liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the Group.
Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at
rates to write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and
the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:
Buildings over the lease term of 3 to 10 years
Motor vehicles and trucks over the lease term of 5 years
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Leases (cont’d)

The Group as lessee (cont’d)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments prepaid, initial
direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the lease payments discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the
Group's incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an initial lease
term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below
US$5,000 (approximately equivalent to HK$39,000).

Customer contracts and softwares

Customer contracts and softwares are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of 2 to 5 years.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statement
of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received is recognised
in the profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis
where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract whose terms
require delivery of the asset within the timeframe established by the
market concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly
attributable transaction costs except in the case of investments at fair
value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of investments at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified as financial assets at
amortised cost.

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are classified
under this category if they satisfy both of the following conditions:

—  the assets are held within a business model whose objective is to
hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less loss allowance for expected credit losses.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on
financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are the weighted
average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as
the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the expected
credit losses that result from all possible default events over the expected
life of that financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) for
trade receivables or if the credit risk on that financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that represents the expected credit losses that
result from default events on that financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses (cont’d)

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the loss
allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required amount is
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives (including contingent considerations under business
combinations) are initially recognised and subsequently measured at
fair value with any gains or losses arising from changes in fair values
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract
with a customer with reference to the customary business practices and
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation
by transferring control over a product or service to a customer.
Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that apply to that
contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time if:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group's performance;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

— the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is recognised
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the product or service.

Other revenue
Interest income is recognised on a time—proportion basis using the
effective interest method.

Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave
as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Employee benefits (cont'd)
(b) Pension obligations

()

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a ceiling of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also participates in a defined contribution retirement
scheme organised by the government in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"). The Group is required to contribute a specific
percentage of the payroll of its employees to the retirement scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the retirement scheme. No
forfeited contributions may be used by the employers to reduce the
existing level of contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs and involves the
payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or

production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take

a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,

are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the

assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment

income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings

pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the

borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_—Z
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Borrowing costs (cont'd)

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a capitalisation rate
to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted
average of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

National United Resources Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024

EAREFER@®

BERE (@)
HR—RUEBAETANER-—BESERE
BE ATEXRECNEEREUETZEE
WX HER—EERCIEREE - ERELL
RN BERRAEENREEEE BER
RER-—EGERNEENEERIN NEE
PR BYNE T 1I(E ©

FREHRMEERANDNHEELERBEREH

e

fﬁIE
1SR 2 BN HATR T BLR AE IR TR AV 48 A0

BN RIET I FERNERNEN E - &
R BB P PR ESRBEF AE > R
RKMEF T EEEEMFEERRNIATIOR
WASHEXIER MATBEXEHARR
HATHRNER AERNABRREEETD
MREARZAEEMRABTEESEMBIRE
58

EIERETY Y HFRERPEERBENRE
BEREAFABERERRNENNERREBNE
BER - RENBEEBEEEUMERRR
B ERES ELERNBEEEENERAE
HIRA AR N RER T ERE - RER
T TR 5 18 5 ok {6 AR AR TR K 2 BY B BR AR ) By
BT UER R —IERZZ P HHEAHE I H A
BEERBRZEHES (EHEHRN ME
EERMER BEFAFERIENEN R G5
wHE NZEEEREETE T UM

EEIRTAE B RE R K B A E it
NEMEENBRNERLEEZE T UES
i 2 55 [ BE HE O] ET B E E R DU B I
M E R A R RAR AT S5~ & B SRR R

N
o ©

EERBEEZREAEIN SRS HRE
5 XA B A SEA B 50 B8 ER AR i A M Ui (5]
EERE D EERRT LR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Taxation (cont’d)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the financial statements are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the performance of the
Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of productions processes, the type or class
of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the

86

Group if that person:

@)

(if)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Company
or of a parent of the Company.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

@)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Company are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary
is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,

provides key management personnel services to the Company
or to a parent of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)
Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not yet available
for use are reviewed annually for impairment and are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets except receivables to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of any
impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 4. ERGHER @

Provisions and contingent liabilities BERSAGE

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount HWAEERBETESUHE LREFENIETS
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation arising T MEBSERAULEZEULEN N
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic EE BHEEFH P SREstE B gk ERTE
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate RGN aERPEE - HEBEBREE
can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are BEEEA BESULEESTEEHELTHBIR
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the BE%)8E o

obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be MEEBLEM T RENAIBEME R K ERE
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is O SEGstEESE IRBRIERENZRED
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is HEENBY SR ERESEEKREADAE
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed B BRIEERYUZFRRAEREGHERTEES
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are BEMEEEISTEAEADS BRIELENZ R
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is HR el sEE R B ER R BRI E NS IRE
remote. BFAREE-

Events after the reporting period HREHBREIE

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information REHAEENRRESH R EHRRKRINEINE
about the Group's position at the end of the reporting period or B ERTESESRETABENRSHE
those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate FEEARABREFEIE TR ESMBREA KM
are adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated financial M IEH R EENRSEEREERBE A
statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting PR SIS IRRMMEEARINE -

events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements

when material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5. EXHIE R EEMEE

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors have
made the following judgements that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(cont’d)
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (cont’d)

(a)

(b)

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon i) financial
support from certain/some directors of the Company at a level
sufficient to finance the working capital requirements of the Group;
ii) the Group is expected to be profitable and continue to generate
operating cash inflows from its future business operations; and iii)
the creditors intentionally agreed to settle the lease liabilities by
issuing convertible bonds of the Group. Details are explained in note
2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidation of entity of less than 50% equity interest
Although the Group owns less than 50% of the equity interest in
IETRXEBMIREZERRAT ("TMTC Travel”), TMTC Travel
is treated as a subsidiary because the Group is able to control the
relevant activities of TMTC Travel as a result of the shareholders’
agreement between the Group and the other shareholder of TMTC
Travel.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

(a)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation charges for the Group's property, plant
and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation charge where useful lives and residual values are
different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.

Impairment of trade receivables, prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

The Group makes impairment loss on trade receivables,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables based on assessments
of the recoverability of the trade receivables, prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, including the current creditworthiness and
the past collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise where
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may
not be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts
requires the use of judgments and estimates.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(cont’d)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(9]

(d)

(e)

()

90

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined with reference to the present value of estimated future
cash flows. Where the future cash flows are less than expected or
there are unfavourable events and change in facts and circumstance
which result in revision of future estimate cash flows, a material
impairment loss may arise.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the
year was HK$26,488,000 (30 June 2023: HK$10,685,000).

Current income tax

Judgment is required in determining the provision for taxation. There
are many transactions and calculation for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the original course of business.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts originally recorded, the differences will impact on the
current income tax in the periods in which the differences arise.

Estimated useful lives and amortisation method of intangible
assets

The Group estimates useful lives of intangible assets based on
historical experience and estimates of the average economic life
of the customers base (relationship) taken into account certain
quantitative factors such as sale expectations, growth prospects and
renewal of contracts. The Group amortises the intangible assets
using the straight-line amortisation method. The Group believes this
method systematically reflects the pattern in which the economic
benefits of the intangible asset are consumed or otherwise used up.
Should the actual useful life of an asset differ from the estimated
useful life, future operating results could be positively or negatively
affected.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(g) Fair value of financial instruments
If the market for a financial instrument is not active, the Group
estimates fair value by using a valuation technique. Valuation
techniques include using recent prices in arm’'s length market
transactions between knowledgeable and willing parties, if available,
reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is
substantially the same, or discounted cash flow analysis and option
pricing models. To the extent practicable, valuation technique makes
the maximum use of market inputs. However, where market inputs
are not available, management needs to make estimates on such
unobservable market inputs.

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three levels
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access
at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
The Group'’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of any

of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances
that caused the transfer.
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (cont’d)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy
at 30 June 2024:

AEEE @
() RZE-_MEANA=+HZA¥E
BRIKE :

Fair value measurements using: Total
FERAUNTATERBRZATENE ! Mt
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 30 June 2024
—EomE
B Bk B4R ~B=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET THET TET
Recurring fair value KENHATEHNE:
measurements:
Liabilities afE
Financial liabilities at FVTPL -  BRAFEFABEZ
TRBE-
Contingent consideration for WEEMB AT~
acquisition of subsidiaries HARE - - 20,108 20,108
Total recurring fair value KENATENERE
measurements - - 20,108 20,108

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities measured at fair value
based on level 3:

(b) REF=RIFAFEFEZERY
iR -

Financial

liabilities

EA =N

HK$'000

FExT

At 1 July 2023 woE-—=#tA—H =

Issues 17 19,380

Total loss recognised in profit or loss PRI m R 1840 % 728

At 30 June 2024 RE_WNEB=+H 20,108
(#) Included gains or losses for liabilities held #) BENRERFEEBEZWEZEIEE

at end of the year 728
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (cont'd)
(c) Valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 30 June 2024:
The Group’s financial controller is responsible for the fair value

measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial reporting

purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements. The financial

controller reports directly to the Board of Directors for these fair

value measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and results

are held between the financial controller and the Board of Directors

at least twice a year.

AR MR R MY EE

P MERAZTHILEFE

. AFEFE®

(0 RZBE-mMEAA=+HARATF
B2z MESTRAARE
FERHEALAERYBEREEN
ETFBAE s SERGBATENE
OEESRATEHSE - PEMEEEE
MEEEERZEATEH B UHE
EREERSEE L HARRGEBR
&NEI%O

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally E=ZHAANFEAEMES  AEEESE
engage external valuation experts with the recognised professional SREEAR O EEXER LI ERE
qualifications and recent experience to perform the valuations. ZHNER(EEERETHE
Level 3 fair value measurements E=HRAFEEZE
Effect on
fair value
Valuation for increase Fair value
Description technique Inputs Range of inputs 30 June 2024
ZEZmE
WAL ~BA=+H
R flER M BAYE gHE HATEZEE ZATE
HK$'000
FAET
Liabilities
&
Contingent consideration Discounted Discount rate 18.93% Decrease 20,108
for acquisition of cash flow Probability-adjusted net 59.70%  Increase
subsidiaries profits meet guaranteed
profit
WERBAS ZHANRE RERFESRE BEREX 18.93% AL 20,108
B —EEB RN P8 59.70% &N

ERRELDT

7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
During the financial year ended 30 June 2024, the Group is organised
into business units based on their products and services and has two
reportable operating segments for management purposes.

Car rental and shuttle bus business — (i) shuttle services between
workplaces/schools and residential communities for employees/students

of institutional customers;

(ii) vehicle rental without chauffeur;

and

(iii) car rental with chauffeur for business and leisure travel and large

government events.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_—Z

S _MESRA=THILEFE

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)
Information technology business — (i) engaging in provision of cloud
computing, global traffic operations and digital transformation services
via private owned constructed data analytics infrastructure with system
application software of computational analytics and processing center
("CAPC") and (ii) engaging in research and development, production,
sales and services of industry information solutions.

During the period from 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023, the Group has
only one operating segment of provision of car rental and shuttle bus
business.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment (loss)/profit, which is a measure of adjusted
(loss)/profit before tax. The adjusted (loss)/profit before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax except that interest
and other income, impairment loss on various assets, share of loss
of associates, fair value changes on financial liabilities at FVTPL, gain
on disposal of subsidiaries, finance costs and unallocated corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents and other unallocated
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude borrowings, tax payable, deferred tax
liabilities, financial liabilities at FVTPL and other unallocated corporate

liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

During the year ended 30 June 2024 and period from 1 January 2022 to
30 June 2023, there were no inter-segment sales.
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7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont'd)

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

7. BREFHBEE @

P MERAZTHILEFE

(a) Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and (a) JEHRHBIER - BEEREEBENE
liabilities are summarised as follows: R -
Car rental Information
and shuttle technology
bus business business Total
REHER
BB LER G E S et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FTET FET
Year ended 30 June 2024 BE-T-HMNEXRA=1+HL
FE
Revenue from external customers BRMNAE R 2 W 62,569 22,169 84,738
Segment (loss)/profit D (B8 ER (14,499) 6,828 (7,671)
Depreciation and amortisation E R 11,767 6,742 18,509
Other material non-cash items: HMBAIEREER .
Impairment losses on various assets ~ ZIEE E R EEE 7,144 694 7,838
Additions to segment FERBE E DL M
non-current assets 27,622 80,397 108,019
As at 30 June 2024 RZE_MERB=+H
Segment assets DNEEE 153,897 219,975 373,872
Segment liabilities NHERE (179,419) (49,902) (229,321)
Car rental Information
and shuttle technology
bus business business Total
AEMAERK
BYEITEK EGIEES 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Period from 1 January 2022 ZEZ“f—B—HE
to 30 June 2023 —E=FAA=1HLEH
Revenue from external customers BROMNAR R 2 W 116,293 - 116,293
Segment loss DEEIR (42,873) - (42,873)
Depreciation and amortisation e R 28,194 - 28,194
Other material non-cash items: HMEXRIFREIER -
Impairment losses on various assets ~ ZIBE ERERE 94,977 - 94,977
Additions to segment FEMENE A D EILM
non-current assets - - -
As at 30 June 2023 RIEZ=FXA=+H
Segment assets DEEE 128,490 - 128,490
Segment liabilities DBEE (276,944) - (276,944)
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

S _MESRA=THILEFE

7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’'d)

(a) Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and

liabilities are summarised as follows: (cont'd)

7. BENHER @

(@) = Tfiﬁﬁ“ﬂ?ﬁﬁﬁ EERBENE

FHREZL T & (40

Year ended
30 June 2024

1 January 2022
to 30 June 2023

HE BB TF

—E-@mE —H—H=

~NB=+H “ET=HF

IEFE ~BE=+H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Revenue from external customers BRRIMNAER 2N 84,738 116,293
Segment result DEEE (7,671) (42,873)
Interest income on bank deposits IRITERZFEUWA 2,064 622
Other income HAug A 31,462 331,208
Impairment losses on various assets ZIEEERERE (7,838) (94,977)
Unallocated expenses e AN b2 (18,452) (35,180)
(Loss)/profit from operations e (518 5 R (435) 158,800
Finance cost BE L AR (6,882) (12,630)
Share of loss of associates PMLBE A B EIE - (201)

Fair value loss on financial liabilities BATESTABRZEHEEZ

at FVTPL NEEEBIE (728) -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBE R WG - 37,660
(Loss)/profit before tax BrFRAT (&538) /7 F (8,045) 183,629
Income tax expense FriSiRBEsz (2,178) (1,546)
(Loss)/profit for the year/period F /8 (5518) /HF] (10,223) 182,083
Depreciation and amortisation TERE#HE 18,509 28,194
As at 30 June As at 30 June

2024 2023

RIEZWE ATET=F

~NB=+H NA=+H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Segment assets DEEE 373,872 128,490
Unallocated assets RDEEE 98,211 216,653
472,083 345,143
Segment liabilities nEyaE (229,321) (276,944)
Unallocated liabilities E N =K (139,513) (38,550)
(368,834) (315,494)
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[1\24 AN

SRl R

For the year ended 30 June 2024 Eizi_v “MESNA=THLEFE

7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’'d) 7.
(b) Geographical information:
The Group’s revenue analysed by geographical location and
information about its non-current assets excluded deferred tax
assets by geographical location are detailed below:

4 EX
= =

(b) EE K :

DEER @

REEZME DT 2 Wt RZMESD o

ZIERBEE R
BRERNT

BRBIEREREE) 2

Revenue Non-current assets
6 FEREBEE
Year ended 1 January 2022 As at As at
30 June to 30 June 30 June 30 June
2024 2023 2024 2023
BE TECCE
—ENE —A—HZE
~NB=+H Bz RZEZNE A
ILLEFE ~BE=1H ~B=+H ~NA=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
PRC ] 84,738 116,293 249,261 176,065
In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based on the 2IEERE > KRB IRIEE T
locations of the customers. & & 53 0
(c) Information about major customers (c) FEXZREN
Revenue from major customers, each of whom accounted for 10% REBENEEKZEI0%IU LN ETER

or more of the total revenue is set out below:

PRI &SI -

Year ended
30 June 2024

1 January 2022
to 30 June 2023

8= —E

—EmE —B—H=

~A=+H ZEI=HF

ILEE NB=1+H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHBT

Customer A EEA 12,585 16,267

Customer B =FB 11,412 N/ATE

Customer C BEC N/ARE B 13,785
EXRG S B RIERERAR 97
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

REVENUE

The principal activity of the Group are (i) provision of car rental and
shuttle bus services; (ii) provision of cloud computing, global traffic
operations and digital transformation services via CAPC and (iii) the
research and development, production, sales and service of industry
information solutions. All revenue generated by the Group were derived
from the PRC.

Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable by the Group
from business income, services rendered to customers, net of discounts,
returns and sales related taxes are as follows:

8. Wm

FEENTEEBROREBEAEHREREY
EBLERE (BB ED T REERLEMR
B ek BEENUUCEERS &
(INTERERBRAEZME - EE - HER
RS - AEBEEN S B U IR E FE -

WmEAREBBEFWA - AEFRERS
BB 8 GOBRITE R F KR EAE
RITRIR) - W TP

Year ended
30 June 2024

1 January 2022
to 30 June 2023

—E_ME —H—H=%
~NB=+H ZEI=HF
IEEE ~NB=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Overtime B — BB
CAPC services income FTE DM R EIER LR WA 11,412 -
Industry information solution TEEMNBREZRBFEA
services income 10,757 -
22,169 -
Point in time RE—BFRE
Car rental and shuttle bus FERAERBEHE TRBUA
services income 62,569 116,293
84,738 116,293
Car rental and shuttle bus services income AEHEREAHELRFKVA

The Group provides car rental and shuttle bus services to the customers.
Service income are recognised when service is rendered.

CAPC services income

Revenue from provision of online platform service in CAPC is recognised
overtime by daily average over the contracted amount towards
completion of Group's performance obligation as set out in respective
contracts.

Industry information solution services income

Revenue from provision of industry information solution services is
recognised overtime by daily average over the contracted amount
towards completion of Group's performance obligation as set out in
respective contracts.

98 National United Resources Holdings Limited
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9. OTHER INCOME

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

9. Hhlg A

Year ended
30 June 2024

P MERAZTHILEFE

1 January 2022
to 30 June 2023

®=E TECCF

—E-mE —A—B=z

~NA=+H ZEI=HF

LLEFE ANA=+H

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Bank interest income IRITF B WA 2,064 622

Gain on reversal of bad debt for Hh e W R IR R R

other receivables (note 24) e (B5t24) 26,772 -
Gain on disposal of property, HEYE - BE KK ERG

plant and equipment 1,414 2,267

Gain on debt restructuring (note) BB EAWE (W) - 328,461

Net foreign exchange gains PE 50 Ut 7 V3 4B 2,717 -

Sundry income MW A 559 480

33,526 331,830

Note:  The gain on debt restructuring represents the aggregate amount
of outstanding debt owed by the Company settled under the debt
restructuring after haircut from the creditors and finance costs related to
such outstanding loan incurred, less (i) the cash settlement paid to the
creditors; and (ii) fair value of creditors shares issued by the Company.
Details of the debt restructuring were disclosed in circular of the Company

dated 31 December 2021.

10.FINANCE COST

Mzt . EHBBEERGEEAADREEBEMEN
RERBANBRRERNHREEEHE
BRZEHREEENELNEMEER
AR ERANRESEE ; R()ER
BIRTHERARNPHAFE - BEHEE
HBERERAA jﬁﬂﬁﬁ_g_*fﬁJr_

B=+—arE

AR

Year ended
30 June 2024

1 January 2022
to 30 June 2023

®=E T F

ol 111 - —RA—B=

~NA=+H ZEI=F

LEFE NA=+H

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Bank charges IRITEA 29 13
Interest expenses on borrowings EEZF B

— interest on convertible bonds — MR ESFZHE - 899

— interest on non-convertible bonds — AR ES ZHE - 905

— interest on lease liabilities —HHE8EFE 2,381 8,753

— interest on other borrowings —HMEEZFE 3,512 1,977

— interest on bank borrowings —IRITEEF L 960 83

6,882 12,630
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

11.INCOME TAX EXPENSE

11.

PSR

Year ended
30 June 2024

1 January 2022
to 30 June 2023

HE =B
b 111 - 3 —A—H=E
~B=+H g 2
ILEE ANA=+H
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BIEATR I — &8 181K

Provision for the year/period £ BREE - -

Current tax — the PRC Enterprise Income BRI IE — PRI (R 2RISR
Tax Provision for the year/period FEREE 999 -
Deferred tax IRIEFRTE 1,179 1,546
2,178 1,546

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5% (period from
1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable

profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax, the applicable
income tax rate of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC is 25% (period
from 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023: 25%).

The reconciliation between the income tax and (loss)/profit before tax
multiplied by the Hong Kong profits tax rate is as follows:

BEENEGRERFAREBEE ZE5HER

REMURZ16.5% (B

—E-"F#—F—H

ECE_FEXNA=+HILEHRE 16.5%) 5t

%o

BEBEPECEMSRE FAERURPEH
ZIWBRBIZERMBRER25% (B-F

T THE—A—HEZZZ

HARS : 25%) ©

=FRA=+HL

PRSI BRI AT (B548) H A RUF BRAE

MEZHIRMT !

Year ended
30 June 2024

1 January 2022
to 30 June 2023

BHE =B
—E-mE —H—H=
~B=+H B =&
IEFE NA=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Loss)/profit before tax bR AT (E538) & F (8,045) 183,629
Tax at the domestic income tax rate BAMFTSIREI16.5%TEZRIE
of 16.5% (1,327) 30,299
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries HRHABEEERBATFAEREZ
operating in the PRC HE 637 (12,270)
Income not subject to tax BAMBUWA (7,131) (60,392)
Expenses not deductible for tax AN 3,195 12,705
Tax effect of temporary differences FEDGRMEERELE
not recognised 1,607 17,229
Tax losses not recognised RIEBIRIEE 18 5,197 13,975
2,178 1,546
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

12.(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD

The Group’s (loss)/profit for the year/period is stated after charging the

following:

12. £ /HAR (B548) i

REBF A (B18) JBRENBR TS

ERESR

Year ended
30 June 2024

1 January 2022
to 30 June 2023

BHE -2
—E-mE —A—B=z
~NB=+H 2=
LLEFE ~B=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Staff costs (including Directors’ BIA (BFEEFHH)
remuneration)
— salaries, bonuses and allowances — AL RO R, 39,260 68,817
— retirement benefits scheme —RIRTEF] 5T BIHRR
contributions 7,351 13,552
46,611 82,369
Auditor’s remuneration Z e Emil < 980 930
Depreciation of property, plant and YE -MERBEITE
equipment 11,194 18,657
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESERTE 3,963 9,414
Amortisation of intangible assets S R 3,352 123
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment on FEUR B 2 CRiE#(E) RfE
trade receivables (3,450) 10,081
Impairment on other receivables H 1t FE R IE R B 716 3,118
Impairment on goodwill EMERE - 23,920
Impairment on property, plant and ME--BERFZERE
equipment 9,014 38,832
Impairment on right-of-use assets FREESEREB 1,558 19,026
BERMEERERERAT ’l O’I
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

13.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ remuneration for the period/year, disclosed pursuant to
the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

(a) Directors’ emoluments

102

13

EEM=

ARE LR BB R EMEMIE383(1)(a)
)~ (O ROERAE WEEENmER) R
PIE2EIRBEZ B FREEMEINT :

(a) EEM=E

Year ended 30 June 2024
HE_S-MEXAZTHLEE

Equity- Retirement
Salaries settled benefit
and  share option scheme
Fees allowances expenses contributions Total
DY 5500 BHRER
ik HERkEl HRERS SRR st
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Vir=3 TET TET THET TET FTET
Executive directors HTES
Ji Kaiping LT 1,200 275 - - 1,475
Guo Peiyuan PR 1,080 301 - 46 1,427
Mao Na By 7 720 - - - 720
Qiu Keshan BRI 1 720 - - = 720
Non-executive director JFH{TES
An Jingwen ZEX 300 - - - 300
Independent non- BUFHTES
executive directors
Li Wen £ 180 - - - 180
Qiu Ke i) 180 - - - 180
Chen Yen Yung BERE 300 - - - 300
4,680 576 - 46 5,302
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

13.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (cont'd)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (cont'd)

13.EEME @
(a) ESHE @

Period from 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023
R CF-A-BEIRZFSA=THEH

Equity- Retirement
Salaries settled benefit
and share option scheme
Fees allowances expenses contributions Total
MEaiEs BRER
ik HekoEl FERERS BEE MRt
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
frzt TER TER TET TER TET
Executive directors HTES
Ji Kaiping ©LRT 1,800 435 - - 2,235
Guo Peiyuan LR 1,620 477 - 56 2,153
Mao Na £ 1 883 - - - 883
Qiu Keshan BRI 1 883 - - - 883
Ma Wenjing EXE 2 823 - - - 823
Non-executive director JEHITEE
An Jingwen ZEX 450 - - - 450
Independent non- BIFERTES
executive directors
Li Wen FX 270 - - - 270
Qiu Ke iy 270 = = - 270
Chen Yen Yung BEE 450 - - - 450
7,449 912 - 56 8,417
Notes Kzt
1 Mao Na and Qiu Keshan were appointed as executive directors of the 1 EREREAUR S 2FMHBNEE
Company on 8 April 2022. ERRBEABTRITES-
2 Ma Wenjing was appointed as the executive director of the Company on 2 EXERIZEZ_FNBN\BEZES

KRB HTESTER ST Z=FHA
=+ HEE

8 April 2022 and resigned on 30 May 2023.

BE_Z-WNEABE=THLEFERCZ
T F—HB—HEZZEZ=FXAH
=+ BB BEEEREXARRNE
Bz ZHEo

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration in respect of the year ended 30 June
2024 and period from 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

13.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (cont'd)
(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the year ended
30 June 2024 included 4 (period from 1 January 2022 to 30 June
2023: 4) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. The emoluments of the remaining 1 (period from 1
January 2022 to 30 June 2023:1) individual is set out below:

13.EEME @

(b) EHREFHMAL

BE_Z_WNEAXB=THLEEE XK
ERRLREsHFMALEENS (T
T THE—-RB—HEZ_=Z%F,B=+
HEAR - U%) 5 Efle R Lat
2o -Hiz—% (CTEZZTHF—A

104

—BEZZ_=-ZF/A=+HHB: —
) ANEZMEEIOT

Year ended
30 June 2024

1 January 2022
to 30 June 2023

BE =
—EmE —H—H=%
~B=+H -
IEEFE NA=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Basic salaries and allowances EARFh & MR 783 1,132
The emoluments fell within the following band: e FTHEE !
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE A#

Year ended
30 June 2024

1 January 2022
to 30 June 2023

BE =
—E_ME —B—H=
~NB=+H TE=HF
ILEFE ~B=+H
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 71,000,000 7T 1 -

HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000

1,000,001 721,500,000 75

No emoluments had been paid by the Group to the Directors or

the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon

joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

.(LOSSES)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

Basic (losses)/earnings per share

The calculation of basic (losses)/earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$8,629,000 (period from
1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023: profit for the period of approximately
HK$201,759,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 4,081,617,480 (period from 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023:
3,041,195,733 ordinary shares) in issue during the year/period.

Diluted (losses)/earnings per share

No diluted (losses)/earnings per share are presented as the Company did
not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares during for the year ended
30 June 2024 and the period from 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 30 June 2024 and period from 1 January 2022 to 30
June 2023.

14.

15.

EATHEE AEEER (5R)
gl

SREX (§B1B) B
KABEBANELESRER (518) &BFT
BERAQBHEE AESENEIE48,629,000
BTt (BZEZ-__F#—H—HE_Z”"=&f
SNBZ=+HIEHAR  BBAREF]49201,759,000
BT O URER/SHREBETZERZM
T 19804,081,617,4800% (BB - —F—
B—HBEZZ_=ZFXXE=Z+HIHBEBH:
3,041,195,733RZERR) stE ©

SREE (B8 BA

HRAABRBE S NFA=1THI
EEREB_ZE__F—H—HEZE_=F
ANE=ZTHILEEECAESEEENE

EEER HURZISREY BR B
Flo

’RE
EEREERBE_S_MEAA=TAL

FEEREBE-__F—HF—RE_Z”_=
ANEZ+HIEHBIRGEERE
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nv g
For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

S _MESRA=THILEFE

16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ME-TEEREH
Motor
Leasehold vehicles Computer
improvements and trucks Building equipment Total
HEMELE RERRE HES BERRE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TER FET FET
Cost: 7%
At 1 January 2022 R_E__&—-H—H 868 151,300 - - 152,168
Disposals HE (12,123) - - (12,123)
Exchange differences ERE®R (104) (17,272) - - (17,376)
At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 RZZZ=EXB=+HK
“Z-=FtA-H 764 121,905 - 122,669
Additions e - 27,622 - 80,397 108,019
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHB AR - - 17,349 - 17,349
Disposals HE - (11,687) - - (11,687)
Exchange differences ERER (6) (1,106) (138) (789) (2,039)
At 30 June 2024 RZE_MERA=1H 758 136,734 17,211 79,608 234,311
Accumulated depreciation  EHTERFME

and impairment:

1 January 2022 RZ_E-_%—F—H 289 57,141 - - 57,430
Charge for the period BRZH 409 18,248 - - 18,657
Disposals HE - (12,123) - - (12,123)
Impairment AE - 38,832 - - 38,832
Exchange differences ERER (61) (9,713) - - (9,774)
At 30 June 2023 and 1July 2023 RIEZ=HXB=+HKZ

T-%tF-H 637 92,385 - - 93,022
Charge for the year FRZH 127 7,677 208 3,182 11,194
Disposals HE - (9,231) - - (9,231)
Impairment & - 9,014 - - 9,014
Exchange differences ERE®R (6) (794) (2) (30) (832)
At 30 June 2024 RZE-MERB=1H 758 99,051 206 3,152 103,167
Carrying amount: fREE
At 30 June 2024 RIEZMERB=+H - 37,683 17,005 76,456 131,144
At 30 June 2023 RIBZ=FRA=+H 127 29,520 - - 29,647

At 30 June 2024, the carrying amount of motor vehicle held by the RIZBEZMEARB=+H> AEBEFEIRT

Group secured against bank loans amounted to HK$16,912,000 (30 June BERIEH 2 AE 2 REEA16,912,0008 7T
2023: nil). (CEZ=FRB=+H:8\) -
'I 06 National United Resources Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont'd)
The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of its motor
vehicles and trucks for the year ended 30 June 2024 as a result of the
deterioration of the markets of the Group's car rental service. These
assets are used in the Group's car rental service segment. The reviews led

to the recognition of an impairment loss of approximately HK$9,014,000
(period from 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023: HK$38,832,000) that has
been recognised in profit or loss. The recoverable amount of the relevant
assets of approximately HK$33,518,000 (30 June 2023: HK$21,647,000)
has been determined on the basis of fair value less costs of disposal using

market approach by considering the ages, physical conditions, extents,

characters and utilities of the motor vehicles and trucks (level 3 fair value

measurements). The recoverable amount of the remaining relevant assets
of approximately HK$4,165,000 (30 June 2023: HK$7,873,000) has been
covered by the valuation of recoverable amount of cash generating units
of car rental and shuttle bus services together with the goodwill (note

20).

17.LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

16. 1% - BB Kkt @)

HRAEBSEHERFTBIE AEH
HEE_ZT_WNFAA=t+HILFEASRE
REBNAKREISBETRT ZEEER
MRAEBEMNSBEHEERSE D BT BB
B R ERE499,014,0008 7T (I
T —B—HREZZE_=FXB=1+HH
M : 38,832,000 7T) - EEEEEN T WEE
%H#933,518,0008 7t (ZEZ=FxA=+
H 21,647,000 HEERABERES
NEB - EBRRT - EE - FHEARER
BHBEiBRATFERHERAEE (BE=4k
NFEFR) R TEMEENTINE £
#94,165,0008 T (ZTE-=FXA=+H:
7,873,000 7m) RIFSEHERELHE LR
BEBRSESEMUNTRE B HEE
FEEEE (:E20) ©

17@ &ﬁ%*ﬁé

Disclosures of lease-related items: SHEBEERE
As at As at
30 June 2024 30 June 2023

R-_ZE_WE A
~NA=+H ~NB=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Right-of-use assets EREEE

— Buildings —BF 444 909
- Motor vehicles and trucks —REBERE 31,715 37,011
32,159 37,920

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flows, of the Group'’s

lease liabilities is as follows:

FERHEEREENRMRREEREZEN
B :

As at As at

30 June 2024 30 June 2023

i1 - 3 AT =4

~NB=+H ~NAB=+H

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FET

Within one year —FR 146,853 146,170
In the second year EHF 265 267
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZEELF (BEEREMF) 22 289
147,140 146,726

EXMEERERARAR
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

B RMIEE

S _MESRA=THILEFE

17.LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (cont'd)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17. M ERFERAEEE @®

Year ended
30 June 2024

1 January 2022
to 30 June 2023

S .
ZEZmE —RA—B=z

~NAB=+H ==
IEEE A~BE=+H

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEEZ TERS

— Buildings —18F 463 1,272
— Motor vehicles et 3,500 8,142
3,963 9,414
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEZfE 2,381 8,753
Total cash outflow for leases HERESMEELE 580 5,709
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREEERE 1,558 19,026

The Group leases various buildings and motor vehicles. Lease agreements
are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to 5 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants and the leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of its leased
motor vehicles for the year ended 30 June 2024 as a result of the
deterioration of the markets of the Group's car rental service. These
assets are used in the Group's car rental service segment. The reviews led
to the recognition of an impairment loss of approximately HK$1,558,000
(1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023: approximately HK$19,026,000)
that has been recognised in profit or loss. The recoverable amount of
the relevant assets of approximately HK$31,591,000 (30 June 2023:
approximately HK$37,011,000) has been determined on the basis of fair
value less costs of disposal using market approach by considering the
ages, physical conditions, extents, characters and utilities of the motor
vehicles and trucks (level 3 fair value measurements).

'I 08 National United Resources Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

17.LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (cont'd) 17. 0GR ERAESE @
Present value
Lease of lease

payments payments

HERE HEHERE
As at As at As at As at
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2024 2023 2024 2023

—E_mE RIEZ=& RZE-mE s
~NA=+H S~B=1H ~NB=1H ANB=Z1H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TET TER
Within one year —ER 146,853 146,170 146,832 145,942
In the second year FTE 265 267 256 245
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-EERE (BEEEMSE) 22 289 22 281
147,140 146,726 147,110 146,468
Future finance charges RREEZH (30) (258) N/A RER N/A R
Present value of lease obligations HESRAZRE 147,110 146,468 147,110 146,468
Less: Amount due for settlement within & : K128 B REIEEEZ A
12 months (shown under current GIANKRBER)
liabilities) (146,832) (145,942)
Non-current portion FEREBBD 278 526
At 30 June 2024, the average effective borrowing rate was 1.62% (30 RIE_MENRA= + H> THERMES
June 2023: 3.57%). Interest rates are fixed at the contract dates and MEH1.62% (T2 _=FA=+H":
thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. As at 30 June 3.57%) FERENBEEE WAEET
2024, lease liabilities amounted to approximately HK$146,588,000 (30 BATEAMEERE R _E_MFEA=+
June 2023: approximately HK$145,431,000) were overdue by the Group. H> AEBBEESEL146,588,0008 ¢ (=
T _=HXB=+H:#145,431,000% )
BEH

EXMEERERARAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e AR R Y EE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 E_ZF _NEA=+HIEFE

18.DEFERRED TAX 18. IR EFRIE
The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised by UTARERRIAZFTIBEERBEE (B
the Group: &) .
Intangible
assets acquired Impairment Revaluation
in business of trade of motor
combinations receivables vehicles Total
REBEHT
WREZzRIEE BRESHAE REE Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER TER TER FTER
At 1 January 2022 RZE-"&—F—H = 1,491 5,555 7,046
Charge to profit or loss for the period ~ HR7EERE AR - - (1,546) (1,546)
Exchange difference ERELR - (178) (536) (714)
At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 RIBZ=H/ =+HK
“ERT=FtA-H - 1,313 3,473 4,786
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B A (4,391) 2,436 - (1,955)
Credit/(charge) to profit or FEREBBAFA (0FH)
loss for the year 624 174 (1,977) (1,179)
Exchange difference ERER - (31) (8) (39)
At 30 June 2024 RIZEZM&EAB=1+H (3,767) 3,892 1,488 1,613
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for LX"F?%T’F?—?@W?“HXE%FH 2 2 RIE IR IE 4G
consolidated statement of financial position purposes: BR (EEER) 2
As at As at
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
RIZEZWE R Z=4F
~NB=+H ~B=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Deferred tax assets Lkﬁﬁﬁﬁé 5,380 4,786
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEEE (3,767) -
1,613 4,786
At 30 June 2024, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately RZTE_NEXRB=Z1tH xEEEA
HK$135,140,000 (30 June 2023: approximately HK$123,877,000) RAERERRREF Z EE BRAMEBEBEYD
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been 135,140,0008 L (ZEZ=FA=+8:
recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included #9123,877,0007%70) c BN R m M mz R~
in unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$135,140,000 (30 June 2023: B TEANE > # AR SEIE IR IE B E o R
HK$123,877,000) in the PRC are available for offsetting against future EMEBMME > AEDRBEEHEBEERH
profits that may be carried forward for five years for PRC enterprise B~ E518135,140,0008 T (ZE = FE XA
income tax purpose. =+H :123,877,0007 7t) > 7] BIEIKEE R 2K
A WA AEE R A o

'I 'I O National United Resources Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. B.E E
Customer
contracts Software Total
EREH W #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Cost: BRA
At 1 January 2022, 30 June WZE__F#—HF—H-
2023 and 1 July 2023 —E=F/A=+H
RZIEZ=F+tHB—H - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries Y B Bt B8 2 B 20,560 10,943 31,503
Exchange differences ERELR (164) (88) (252)
At 30 June 2024 RIZ2EZWNFEARB=+H 20,396 10,855 31,251

Accumulated impairment losses: & 5HiF{EE1E :
At 1 January 2022, 30 June RZZE_—_&F—HF—H-

2023 and 1 July 2023 “EI=FXB=+H

BFR_E_=ZF£tHA—H - - -
Amortised for the year F 2,682 670 3,352
Exchange differences FERELE (26) (6) (32)
At 30 June 2024 A TENFSRB=+H 2,656 664 3,320
Carrying amount: BREE
At 30 June 2024 A ZETOFRB=+H 17,740 10,191 27,931
At 30 June 2023 RZEZ_=%,"B=+H - - -

EXMEERERARAR 111
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

II‘I A}

B RMIEE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

S _MESRA=THILEFE

20.GOODWILL 20. HE
Car rental Industry
and shuttle information
bus service solution service Total
AEEER TEAEH
BHBE LR FRRF EARTE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Cost: A
At 1 January 2022 WZEZ__#—F—H 37,546 - 37,546
Exchange differences PERZEER (4,480) - (4,480)
At 30 June 2023 and RZEZ=FA=1+H
1 July 2023 M_E_=%tH—H 33,066 — 33,066
Arising from acquisition of WHERBABEENEE
subsidiaries (note 32(c)) (Ht5#32(c)) - 15,886 15,886
Exchange differences R A= RE (258) - (258)
At 30 June 2024 RZZ2_WFERA=+H 32,808 15,886 48,694
Accumulated impairment losses: & 5tiE {EE518 :
At 1 January 2022 AT "F—HF—H - - -
Impairment loss for the period HAA R {EES1E 23,920 - 23,920
Exchange differences [ERE%R (1,539) - (1,539)
At 30 June 2023 and RIZ2EZ=F,A=+H
1 July 2023 R—E-_=%tH—H 22,381 — 22,381
Impairment loss for the year — E R EEE - = =
Exchange differences PERZEER (175) - (175)
At 30 June 2024 RZE-_WEB=+H 22,206 - 22,206
Carrying amount: FREE -
At 30 June 2024 RZE_WNEB=+H 10,602 15,886 26,488
At 30 June 2023 RZZ2Z=FA=+H 10,685 - 10,685

'I 'I 2 National United Resources Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

20.GOODWILL (cont’'d)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition,
to the cash generating units (“CGUs") that are expected to benefit from
that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill had been
allocated to car rental and shuttle bus service and industry information
solution service of City Gear Limited.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the financial performance of car
rental service was not as good as expected as the cashflow projection
performed in the year ended 30 June 2024 due to the economic
downturn after COVID-19 which affects its forecast revenue. The Group
determined its recoverable amount based on the value in use and
prepared cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial
budgets approved by the directors for the next five years with the
residual period using the growth rate of 3% (30 June 2023: 3%). This
rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
markets. The pre-tax discount rate used to discount the forecast cash
flows is 19% (30 June 2023: 25%). As a result, the carrying amount of
the CGU of car rental service exceed its recoverable amount. Accordingly,
an impairment loss of approximately HK$nil has been recognised for the
year ended 30 June 2024 (period from 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023:
HK$23,920,000).

For the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group determine the recoverable
amount of the CGU of industry information solution service — City Gear
Limited based on the value in use and prepared cash flow forecasts
derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by the directors
for the next five years with the residual period using the growth rate of
3%. This rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the
relevant markets. The pre-tax discount rate used to discount the forecast
cash flows is 15%.

R MR R M EE

“HERAZTHLEFE

20 HE @

REBEEHPTRBEZFEENRWERDE
PR ERZEREHZEEELBEN
(TReEELEMN) HEREDEEIRE
City Gear Limited#/SEHEERBEHE TR
RATEEMEIRT RS

RBEZE_Z_NEAA=+tHLEEE AR
COVID- 19 B REE =B EHTB AN
HERERBEZMERRAEREE_Z Y
EXNAZTHLEEEMRERSAEBENZTE
He-AEERBEAEEETCHIKLEEEE
TIZBBEEHENREAERTPTHEESR
FRURSREEL MGHBPREA3I% (ZF
TZHEXRAZ1TH 3% MEREXR-ZME
EARABBEATHZTFHEREER -BR
MEEARSAREZMNAIMBEES19% (&
TTZFENRNAZ+TH:25%) &KL REM
EfREReELABNZEREEBBEIYK
ORI - H#E_ZT_WEA=+H
FEEERIBEGENSTELT (T2
F—A—HE_ZE-_="F,H=+HHH :
23,920,000 7T) ©

BE_Z_NEXB=+HLFE ~£H
REBEEHEEECTEENMARTERE —
City Gear LimitediBE4 B> alir[@s
B OWIRBEEMENKR KA FRIFTHIH
FEARRFESRERA RERABER3I%M
BEX ZWEXABBEMMHBZTFHEE
R E=  ARMIBEARERE 2 RATE
REZAH15%
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AR e AR R Y EE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

21.SUBSIDIARIES 21. [t B AT
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 30 June 2024 are as follows: FENBABR S -NEASB=+H2=
1BIE
Place of Nominal
incorporation/ value of
registration issued/paid Percentage of equity
Name and operation up capital  attributable to the Company Principal activities
HRRL BT/ 8BS
g EfREEME BXEE FRAFEMEEZERI TERH
As at 30 June
RAA=+A
2024 2023
ZZCmE 2
Direct subsidiaries:
EENBAF
Konmate Investments Ltd Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100% Investment holding
BEREBRAT BE 2B 100% 100%  BREZER
NUR New Energy Management Company Limited BVI US$1 100% 100% Inactive
BRESERNEREEERAT BREUHE (B 100% 100%  EEEH
NUR Digital Economy Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% Provision of cloud computing
and digital transformation
services
EX#aEREFEEERAT BE 10047 100% 100%  REEHEMNHACELRS
Indirect subsidiaries:
HERBAR
Million Best International Enterprise Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Management services
BEERLXARRR BE 1573 100% 100%  BEE®
Gear World Development Limited BVI US$10,000 100% 100% Inactive
HEBREYHE 10,000 70 100% 100% BREH
Beijing Tian Ma Tong Chi Car Rental Co., Ltd* PRC RMB158,000,000 100% 100% Car rental service
TREREENSERERRAT FE AR 100% 100% RERERH
158,000,0007T
Shandong Gold Vantage Electronic Technology PRC HK$4,000,000 100% 100% Inactive
Development Company Limited*
LUREHEFHEERERAT I 4,000,000%7% 100% 100%  EEEH
Beijing Tian Ma Tong Chi Travel Transportation Co., Ltd* PRC RMB15,000,000 49% 49% Car rental service
TRAEBHKESTEBRAT HE ARE 49% 49%  AEHEERHB
15,000,0007%
TRaRENBEERAR PRC HK$10,000,000 - 100% Inactive
I 10,000,0003 7T - 100%  BEEH
TREERFREERAT PRC HK$10,000,000 100% 100% Inactive
FE 10,000,000 7 100% 100% BREH
BREREEMNERERBEERAT PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Inactive
I AEH 100% 100%  BEEH
10,000,0007%
City Gear Limited BVI usD100 100% - Investment holding
BRREUHE 100%7 100% - REER
Beijing Rui Xin Bo Tong Technology Co., Ltd.* PRC RMB30,000,000 100% - Industry information solution
TRBEBBHRERAT HE AEE 100% - TEERBARE
30,000,0007%
Hangzhou Dingsheng Technology Co., Ltd.* PRC HK$10,000,000 100% - Industry information solution
RMBERRARAT I 10,000,0003 7T 100% - TEEABASE
Aslan Top Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Investment holding
BRERRT BB 137 100% - RERE

*  For identification purposes only
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AR MR R MY EE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

21.SUBSIDIARIES (cont'd) 21.
The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The summarised
financial information represents amounts before inter-company

M B A3 @
TRIITEENAEEBEAMNIETRER
(TIEERR ) 2 HBAT 2 ER - HBE
BB IE AR A 2 258 o

eliminations.
TTRRERMIRERERRAR
As at As at
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Name 18 RZEZME i
~B=+H ~NBE=+H
Principal place of business/country FEEEME HEMRIER PRC PRC
of incorporation R FREY
% of ownership interests/voting rights FEREESE AR
held by NCI CEREBDL 51%/0% 51%/0%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Non-current assets FERBEE 6,955 12,604
Current assets MENEE 21,889 23,791
Current liabilities neas (107,251) (112,726)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE = -
Net liabilities BEFH (78,407) (76,331)
Accumulated NCI L R (39,988) (38,929)
Year ended 1 January 2022
30 June 2024 to 30 June 2023
ZEZmE —A—B=
~NA=+H —EI=HF
LEEFE ~B=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Revenue W & 59,855 116,057
Loss for the year/period F/BHAEE (3.126) (38,580)
Total comprehensive loss for the year/period E/Hﬁﬁqéﬁﬁﬂﬁ (2,076) (30,642)
Loss allocated to NCI EEI?F?’“HRT%“ZES?‘E (1,594) (19,676)
Dividends paid to NCI ENEERETZRE - -
Net cash used in operating activities KESEEFT A ziﬁ%,;@ﬁ (1,330) (2,522)
Net cash generated from investing activities REZENFIIS IR F48 1,967 2,265
Net cash used in financing activities MEEBMAZIRE R (270) (1,022)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and REkERRSBEEZEM,
cash equivalents (RZ) 258 367 (1,279)
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AR e AR R Y EE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

22.INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

2. RBEATNKRE

As at

30 June 2024
R-E-MmF
~B=+H
HK$'000
T#ET

As at

30 June 2023
= S
A~BE=+H
HK$'000
FHET

Unlisted investments: JELHKRE
Share of net assets ELEEFE

The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group’s share of the
amounts of all individually immaterial associates that are accounted for
using the equity method.

TRUEBLD A RAEEREREDREAR

Z FEISFR A E B IEE KH

As at

30 June 2024
R-ZE_WE
~B=+H
HK$'000
TF&ET

FUSESE

As at

30 June 2023
RIEZ=4F
~B=+H
HK$'000
FHETT

mz REE

Carrying amounts of interests

Year ended
30 June 2024

1 January 2022
to 30 June 2023

BHE -z
—E-mE —H—H=
~B=+H —EI=HF
LLEFE NA=Z+H
Loss from continuing operations FESEXER 2B - (201)
Other comprehensive income HhZmEmlA - -
Total comprehensive loss T HEEBEELE - (201)

The Group has not recognised loss of associates for the year amounting
to approximately HK$261,000 for the year ended 30 June 2024 (period
ended 30 June 2023: approximately HK$129,000). The accumulated
losses not recognised were approximately HK$390,000 (30 June 2023:
approximately HK$129,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

23.TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group's trading terms with customers are mainly on credit or
received in advance. The credit period is generally 30 days. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables so as
to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
the Directors. The Group has concentration of credit risk on certain
customers. As at 30 June 2024, four (30 June 2023: three) customers
attributable to the Group’s total trade receivables were 81% (30 June
2023: 68%). The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancement over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are
non-interest bearing.

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the services provided
date, is as follows:

R MR R M EE

P MERAZTHILEFE

23.[EIRE 5=

FEBRBERZE5HENTEURIRIATAR
FRET ERBA—RA30H - AERN IR
BEFREZBWRIE AEBREEER
=”é$mﬂﬁﬁﬂ%$ﬁﬁﬁ°$$l%%
BEARETFER -RZZ-MWNFXRA
_+E OB (ZEZ=ZFRAB=1+H: =4)
ERBGEAEERBKREZMBEZS1% (=
ZE_=FSA=1H'68%) c REEILEF
HEWE SR @R A EAERaoiEdE
MIEEREHEI - EWEB S RIL A E -

RERFIRMBMEKEZRZRE DT
T

As at As at

30 June 2024 30 June 2023

~NB=+H ~NA=+H

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Within 30 days 30HA 6,860 9,258
31-90 days 31&E90H 15,186 5,537
Over 90 days but within 1 year BEI0HBER —FR 59,976 5,743
Over 1 year Bim—F 6,907 14,116
Less: Impairments B RE (10,822) (14,349)
78,107 20,305

Reconciliation of impairment of trade receivables:

FEWE R EHK !

Year ended
30 June 2024

1 January 2022
to 30 June 2023

ZEZmE —A—B=

~NB=+H —E=HF

fl=: 55 ANA=+H

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

At the beginning of the year/period P& HAAD 14,349 5,582
(Decrease)/increase in impairment for F/BRmE Gl /1Em

the year/period (3,450) 10,081

Exchange differences PERELR (77) (1,314)

At the end of the year/period RE R 10,822 14,349
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AR e AR R Y EE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

23.TRADE RECEIVABLES (cont'd) 23. R E 57k @)
The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to provide for AREBEERAESEVHRRESEDFEIFEETY
expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss provision for all B b LT TEER = BE Bt EE Ut ER
trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables EREWS 2B BTaREIERE A5t
have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the EEACEERE BEWESZERBELEEE
days past due. The expected credit losses also incorporate forward EREEHEEAIERE S H TEHEEEE
looking information. INEIERIEEE R o
Within 31-365 Over
30 days days 1 year
Current past due past due past due Total
BE  AH30ARK AH31E365H BHBE—f£ st
At 30 June 2024 RZE-mERB=+H
Weighted average expected loss rate  JI#ETHBEHFBEE 0% 3% 6% 88%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) FEIFRIE (T 7T) 3,824 10,529 67,669 6,907 88,929
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BEEE (TED - 320 4,394 6,108 10,822
At 30 June 2023 RZEZ=Z&/xA=+H
Weighted average expected loss rate  JI#ET9BEAFBEE 0% 4% 5% 98%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) FEWFE (T8 7) 9,258 2,852 8,428 14,116 34,654
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BEEE (TED - 121 403 13,825 14,349
24.PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24, A RIE B E R HMEWRRIE
RECEIVABLES
As at As at
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
RIEZME RZIZZ=
~A=+H ~B=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
TF&ET FHT
Other receivables Hh g RIE 35,976 4,791
Prepayments and deposits FENRIBE M EE 94,823 106,423
130,799 111,214
Impairment BE (5,683) (4,989)
125,116 106,225
Less: non-current portion B IERBIER D
Prepayments AT RIE 31,539 97,813
93,577 8,412
Other receivables mainly represents the reversal of the other receivables EREEBE R EERARERE Ei
written off in prior years as the effort of management to chase payment FENAREBEXTEABEBEFEMBENEMmE
and negotiate with the debtor. The settlement agreement was signed WHIE - NRHBZERNFREE  RRSH
during the year and approximately HK$26,772,000 was settled and HARIBEM T BEHBAWEN#26,772,0007
received from the debtor before the report date which was recognised as T RBEZE_NERNAZ+THLEFER
other income during the year ended 30 June 2024. RABEMUA o

'I 'I 8 National United Resources Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

24.PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

25.

RECEIVABLES (cont'd)
As at 30 June 2024,
represents i) the purchase of motor vehicles approximately of
HK$16,234,000 (30 June 2023: HK$16,707,000), ii) the purchase of
properties of approximately HK$9,687,000 (30 June 2023: nil) during
the year which will be classified as property, plant and equipment

included in prepayment and deposits mainly

in the coming year and reclassified as non-current portion for the
year, iii) maintenance fee of motor vehicles for coming few years
of approximately HK$8,827,000 (30 June 2023: approximately
HK$:12,132,000), and iv) deposits for the purchase of commodities for
the year of approximately HK$56,175,000 (30 June 2023: nil).

Reconciliation of impairment of prepayments,
receivables:

deposits and other

R MR R M EE

P MERAZTHILEFE

24, FEIRIE & R HE M EUWRIE
€=)]

AZE_MEANAZTH BYREERES
FTEGRE)EEAE16,234,00087T (2
“Z=#X"B=+H 16,707,000 ) » i)t
FRNEEBRERFEDELAME BERKE
WEAFEEMDBAIERDNBOHYE
#99,687,000B T (ZE_=ZF,"B=+H:
) 2 iR R BE MR B HE(EE498,827,0008
T (CEZ=ZF,"B=+H :%12,132,000%

70) 0 Kiv)F NI EE A2 £ 4956,175,000

BT (CE_=ZFA=1+H 8-

FARTRIE s B2 R BB UERIE 2 R E SR

Year ended
30 June 2024

1 January 2022
to 30 June 2023

BHE ==
—E-@mE —RA—B=

~NB=+H 2=
LLEFE AA=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
At the beginning of the year/period R HAAD 4,989 2,324
Increase in impairment for the year/period F /PR EL 716 3,118
Exchange differences EERELR (22) (453)
At the end of the year/period e HR 5,683 4,989

BANK AND CASH BALANCES

As at 30 June 2024, the bank and cash balances of the Group
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB") approximately to HK$45,567,000 (30
June 2023: HK$135,112,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies
is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

25 iE &Eﬁﬁmnr
RIZZEZMFEARB=1+TH AEBEUARE
(TARE)HEZROTRRESEENA
45,567,OOO%E(_7_:¢/\E—+E
135,112,000/ 7T) - AR RIRAHME
AT EISNEE FIERATR

RTRELEBESARTERINRZFHA
REDHE -ROTEEFEHERNRETEE
N BEERF 2T

EXMEERERARAR
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AAF5 e TR B 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

26.0THER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

26. Hth BT RRIBAR Bt &R

As at As at
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
R-_ZE_WE R _=4F
~NAB=+H NA=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Other payables HhfE (I mRIE 75,643 77,406
Amount due to a director N —REERIB 1,722 10,692
Accruals FEst & A 38,754 37,006
116,119 125,104
Note fet

(a)

27.CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed

repayment terms.

BN —2ESFTARERT  RERLEEE

@B gy

AR

27. B EaE

As at As at
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
i 11 5 RZE =4
~B=+H ~B=+H
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Contract liabilities — Industry information AHEE-TEEM
solution services R T B IRTE 3,236 -

Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year:

Year ended
30 June 2024

ENEEREANEARS

1 January 2022
to 30 June 2023

HE —2°C
—E_mE —B—B=%
~B=+H TEI=4F
IEFE ~A=+H
Increase due to business combinations ETEE FHRTEIE N 3,766 -
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue HESNEEENRD (504) -

120
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

R MR R M EE

“HERAZTHLEFE

28.FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FVTPL 28. AR ETAIBRZEREE
As at As at
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
MRIZZWE e
~NA=+H ANB=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BATESHABHZZEMAER
- contingent consideration for acquisition —EENER B2
of subsidiaries HAKE 20,108 -

In the December of 2023, Million Best International Enterprise Limited
("Purchaser”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the sale and purchase agreement (“the SPA") with Mr. Xie
Minxiong (“Vendor”), pursuant to which the Purchaser has conditionally
agreed to purchase, and the Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell,
the total shares of City Gear Limited (“Target Group”) and the loan
owed by the Target Group to the Vendor, at the consideration of
up to HK$90,000,000. The SPA was completed on 28 March 2024
("Completion Date”) and HK$40,000,000 shall be payable by the
Purchaser by the issuance of the promissory note to the Vendor on
the Completion date. The promissory note is non-interest bearing and
matures upon expiry of the 15-month period commencing on the first
date of the month immediately following the Completion Date. No early
redemption is allowed for the promissory note.

In the event that the net profit of the Target Group (“Net Profit”)
for the 12-month period commencing on the first date of the month
immediately following the Completion Date (“Relevant Period”) is equal
to or greater than the guaranteed profit of HK$14 million (“Guaranteed
Profit”), the Purchaser shall repay the principal amount of the promissory
note upon its maturity. In the event that the Net Profit for the Relevant
Period is less than the Guaranteed Profit, the promissory note shall be
cancelled upon maturity and the Purchaser shall not be liable for the
repayment of the principal or any other fees payable by the Purchaser to
the Vendor or the holder of the promissory note thereunder.

RTET=F+ R ARBAZHEEEEN
BARBERREEBRRAR (TEH)) HH
REEE(ErNTuEERE (BEEWH
D) BRI BEFEERGAREE MEBEA
EEEHREE B ECy Gear Limited (TE12%
E) 2BRHMEEEEEERERZER
KBRS 590,000,0008 T - BEEHHENZ
ZTME=BZ+N\H (5T B 5T
E40,000,000%EZEE§]E7‘573§‘% L HHRE B
BTAREBINTFTER AREHBABFS
EERNEETRBHAE NESE—8iest
+£TIEHHF'3)=7%T§ EHR o N A ETIRAIEEE
RE

HESEEENEBETHREBRE TNERE—H
t%ﬂ"f—:ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ (TERAERM ) 2 A 258
(MEF) P8 FRAB/R14BBBTZRF
oAl (MRFBRA) B AR AR EEE
HEEEHEAZ B MABE 2 aF FEEE
REER A R R B AR T st
MEFTESTEERRERZASHERS
BUNBEFRAREBRBEAZETEME
FH e
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

29.BORROWINGS 29. 6 &
As at As at
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
R-_ZE_WE R _=4F
~NB=+H NA=+H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HiaE FET FET
Included in current liabilities: FFAREBEE

Bank loans — secured RITEM— BT (a) 20,754 -
Bank loans — unsecured RITER — mIET (b) 9,630 -
Other loans HMMEMR (c) 38,550 38,550
68,934 38,550

Notes Kot

(a) Bank loans are secured by property, plant and equipment as described in
Note 16, are at an annual rate of one-year LPR and are repayable by monthly
installments in 4 years with repayable on demand clause and classified as

current liabilities.

(b) The bank loans are unsecured, at an annual rate of one-year LPR-0.65% to
one-year LPR+0.53% and are repayable on demand or within one year.

(c) Other loans are unsecured, approximately HK$33,000,000 (30 June 2023:
HK$33,000,000) bears interest rate of 4% to 4.5% (30 June 2023: 4% to
4.5%) are repayable on demand or within one year. The remaining balances

are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

As at 30 June 2024, other loans amounted to approximately
HK$26,500,000 (30 June 2023: approximately HK$26,500,000) were

overdue by the Group.

'I 22 National United Resources Holdings Limited
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RITERUMEE16FT R 2 W% BB Rk B 1F
B EMEL-—FHERTHRENX A
RAFRZBDIEER BENERERERERERF
oD ERARBEE-

SRTERAERE FHEL—FEHERTIE
REHNEK-0.65%E—FHERTHBREMNE
+0.53% > HERERFN —FERNEE-

HMERAEIEF > 433,000,00087T (T
“=#/,"A=-+H :33,000,00087) #NTF
4%FEL5% (ZE_=ZFE,B=1+H 4% =
45%) ZMEFE > BERERANR—FANE
BoR TMERARIER R EEBRERERE

AZE_WNENANB=ZTRH AEEBEKRMG
2~ HMEH47526,500,0008 T (ZE_=4F
SNAZ=+H : 426,500,000 7T) °
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=
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R MR R M EE

P MERAZTHILEFE

30.SHARE CAPITAL 30. fig s
As at As at
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
MRIZZWE RIZEZ=F
~NB=+H ~B=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Issued and fully paid: BRTRERE
4,387,628,409 (30 June 2023: 4,387,628,409f% (ZE - =%
3,687,628,409) ordinary shares NA=1+H :3,687,628,4095%)
B 3,587,769 3,507,369
A summary of the movements in the issued share capital of the Company KRB BBTRAEHHMENT -
is as follows:
Number of Share
shares issued capital
ERTRHHE [
Notes HK$'000
=3 FHET
At 1 January 2022 N _—_E__F—H—H 6,411,770,500 3,178,754
Share consolidation & 1n &6 (a) (5,770,593,450) -
641,177,050 3,178,754
Share subscriptions 5 B8 (b) 2,198,000,000 240,603
Open offer NEBE (c) 641,177,050 65,212
Debt restructuring B84 (d) 207,274,309 22,800
At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 R_E_=FB=Z+BK
- =FtHA—H 3,687,628,409 3,507,369
Share subscriptions 1758 88 (b) 700,000,000 80,400
As at 30 June 2024 RIZEZWNFEA=+H 4,387,628,409 3,587,769
BERMEERERERAT ’l 23
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

30.SHARE CAPITAL (cont'd)

Notes:

(a)

124

Effective on 25 January 2022, every ten issued ordinary shares of the
Company were consolidated into one ordinary share of the Company (the
“Consolidated Share”).

On 9 March 2022, the Company completed the allotment and issuance of a
total of 1,588,000,000 ordinary shares to two subscribers at the subscription
price of HK$0.11 per subscription share raising a total proceeds of
approximately HK$170,573,000, net of share issue expenses of approximately
HK$4,107,000.

On 8 November 2022, the Company completed the allotment and issuance of
a total of 610,000,000 ordinary shares to two subscribers at the subscription
price of HK$0.115 per subscription share raising a total proceeds of
approximately HK$70,030,000, net of share issue expenses of approximately
HK$120,000.

On 8 December 2023, the Company completed the allotment and issuance of
a total of 700,000,000 ordinary shares to one subscriber at the subscription
price of HK$0.115 per subscription share raising a total proceeds of
approximately HK$80,400,000, net of share issue expenses of approximately
HK$100,000.

On 9 March 2022, the Company completed the allotment and issuance of a
total of 641,177,050 ordinary shares by way of an open offer on the basis
of one offer share for every one existing Consolidated Share held by the
qualifying shareholders on 8 February 2022 at an offer price of HK$0.11
per offer share. The Company raised a total proceeds of approximately
HK$65,212,000, net of share issue expenses of approximately HK$5,317,000.

On 9 March 2022, the Company completed the allotment and issuance of
a total of 207,274,309 ordinary shares (the “Creditors Shares”) to eleven
creditors at the fair value amount of HK$0.11 per Creditors Shares resulting in
increase in share capital of approximately HK$22,800,000.

National United Resources Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

31.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
a) Statement of financial position of the Company

M. FRFZMBRR R
a) FARNZHMBRAE

As at As at
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
RIZEZWE i ——
~NB=+H ~A=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBET
Current assets MEBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other FENRIEZERK
receivables Hit W =18 - 716
Amount due from subsidiaries FE U B B A B T IE 144,491 117,826
Cash and cash equivalents HEeERERREES 27 20
144,518 118,562
Current liabilities mENEE
Other payables and accruals HMEMRIE R E &R 25,582 30,595
Borrowings =y 38,550 38,550
64,132 69,145
Net current assets MEBEEFE 80,386 49,417
NET ASSETS BEZE 80,386 49,417
Capital and reserves B 2s R 8 1
Share capital B 7 3,587,769 3,507,369
Reserves M (3,507,383) (3,457,952)
TOTAL EQUITY ErER 80,386 49,417

Approved by the board of directors of the Company on 30

September 2024 and were signed on its behalf by:

RANBDESEN_E2-_NFNB=+

BAftZIEHUTEEFARE

Ji Kaiping Guo Peiyuan
LHE¥ ;IE
Director Director
-3 -3

EXMEERERARAR
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

31.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND M. FRBZHM B RR KR FEE @
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (cont’d)
b) Reserves of the Company b) FRBZHEME
Equity
component of
convertible Accumulated
bonds losses Total
AREFZ
EEEH2 Bt E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FTET TET
At 1 January 2022 RZE-__&#—H—H 62,077 (3,624,247) (3,562,170)
Total comprehensive income for the period HAZEBALLLE - 104,218 104,218
Transfer from equity component of convertible HE[#HRESZ B H4H
bonds to accumulated losses HETRHER (62,077) 62,077 -
At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 RIB-=FB=+HK
RZIZZ=FtA—H - (3,457,952) (3,457,952)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREMEEIEHEEE - (49,431) (49,431)
At 30 June 2024 RZIZZMERB=+H - (3,507,383) (3,507,383)
c) Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group o FEERERFEZHEERESN
(i) Foreign currency translation reserve (i) SMEBREZE
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange EEREECERRESIERIUT
differences arising from the translation of the financial WRERFMEEZFEERE R -
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in RIFGR ST IR RN TIPS 2 G5t
accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 4 to the BERERERR -

consolidated financial statements.

'I 26 National United Resources Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

32.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF R.ESRERERME

2024FF I

CASH FLOWS
a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities a) MEBEEFBEENEGRES
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities arising TREFAEER EAREFTHESE
from financing activities during the period/year: NEEEE .
Total
liabilities
Non- from
Convertible convertible Lease financing
Borrowings bonds bonds liabilities activities
MEEH
EEW
fBE AHRkRES FAUBRKRES HEaE BEEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2022 WZZ-_—_#—HF—H 69,218 265,086 90,500 163,077 587,881
Changes in cash flows RBERhEr 88 (7,237) (24,139) (5,054) (5,709) (42,139)
Non-cash changes JEIRES 2 EH
- gain on debt restructuring  —{EF5 B W (2,450)  (207,775) (85,446) - (295,671)
- disposal of subsidiaries —HERBAT (36,735) _ - _ (36,735)
- interest charged —FBEREX 2,060 899 905 8,753 12,617
- interest paid or payable — D fEAEHME S HIE
classify to other payables gy & (¢ 5 fiE 14 71 & (20,682) - (905) - (21,587)
- Convertible bonds classify to —/\;Eﬁjﬁfm%gz
other borrowings ABRES 34,071 (34,071) - - -
- exchange difference —EREE 305 - - (19,653) (19,348)
At30June 2023 and 1July W-E—-—=&XxB=+H
2023 R-ZE-=#tH—H 38,550 - - 146,468 185,018
Changes in cash flows REREZEE 13,247 - - (580) 12,667
Non-cash changes e &
- interest charged —F B 4,472 - - 2,381 6,853
- Acquisition of subsidiaries  — g BE Bt /B A T 12,943 - - - 12,943
- exchange difference —ERELR (278) = - (1,159) (1,437)
At 30 June 2024 BZZEZWEANA=+H 68,934 - - 147,110 216,044
BRI S B RIERBIRAF] 127
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

S _MESRA=THILEFE

32.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (cont'd)
b) Disposal of subsidiaries

During the period ended 30 June 2023, the Group entered into
agreements with independent third parties to dispose of its interests
in certain subsidiaries with a consideration of HK$108,000.

Net liabilities at the date of disposal were as follows:

- n\m

b)

ERERERMME @
H:I'EMJ‘E"_
BE_Z_Z£/X/B= +EIJJ:HﬂF'ﬁ Z'S

%Eﬂ%j%jﬁﬂ_ﬂﬁ% ZLUHE R
ETHWBABZ#3 wﬁ%%ms,ooo%

IT ©

RHERRza8EFENT !

HK$'000
FTHET
Bank and cash balances IRITRIREEF 7
Other payables H IR (889)
Other borrowing HiEE (36,735)
Net liabilities disposed BHREZBEFE (37,617)
Release of foreign currency translation reserve BRSNS E RS 65
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBRR 2 Wm 37,660
Total consideration wRE 108
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEREEZRESRA T !
Cash consideration received BWRERE 108
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BHEZRERERREEE (7)
101
c) Acquisition of subsidiaries o WEMBAR
On 28 March 2024, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share RIEZMNE=BZ+/N\H xEEUK
capital of City Gear Limited and the loan owed by the Target Group fECity Gear LimitedZ100% B &17&
to the Vendor for a cash consideration of HK$50,000,000 and AERBRERAXNEAZET BHEaR
promissory note payable of HK$40,000,000. The promissory note fB7%50,000,00078 7T I & 11 K R E &
is non-interest bearing and mature upon expiry of the 15-month 40,000,000 T AR EHEAFFTER
period commencing on the first date of the month immediately BREETEKR BB TERSE —HES
following the Completion Date. No early redemption is allowed +hHERAEEMEBIE - FFIRA
for the promissory note. In the event that the Net Profit for the BOAREE - MR BRPBR N F
Relevant Period is equal to or greater than the Guaranteed Profit, HERAERFEERA > BEFARESR
the Purchaser shall repay the principal amount of the promissory ERINAREEEAS -HAEMBBZ
note upon its maturity. In the event that the Net Profit for the wALFEBERRFZ RN AR EHRER
Relevant Period is less than the Guaranteed Profit, the promissory BT UG MBS U ESEEE
note shall be cancelled upon maturity and the Purchaser shall not be ARBBZAZTHEFRNESHEAR
liable for the repayment of the principal or any other fees payable ERFBEAZERAMER-
by the Purchaser to the Vendor or the holder of the promissory note
thereunder.
1 28 National United Resources Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

32.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF NRN.ESHERERMET @

CASH FLOWS (cont’'d)

¢) Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont'd) o WHEMEAR (&
City Gear Limited engaged in investment holding and its subsidiaries RER City Gear Limitedit BB
engaged in the research and development, production, sales and B ENBABIRETEEMBRRSE
service of industry information solutions during the year. The ZHE-EE - HEMBRE WEEES
acquisition is for the purpose of bring strategic advantages to EARNBHEREEENES  BEA
the Company, broaden the business market for the Company and BNEEFMENRE KA RBERA
bring technical advantages of system platform integration to the NEBTREZRFEERNTMES
Company's existing business to support the development of its TRHEEEBNER-

existing business.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of City Gear AW B 2R UK BB City Gear Limited 2 B 38
Limited acquired as at its date of acquisition is as follows: NEERBBENAFENT
HK$'000
FHET
Net assets acquired: BWEEESZE
Property, plant and equipment ME--BEREE 17,349
Deferred tax assets FIERIBE & 2,436
Intangible assets mEE 31,503
Trade receivables FEUW B Z 49,849
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FEMFIE 2 R E BN EIE 14,211
Bank and cash balances RITRIREET 686
Trade and other payables FE T B 5 70 e EL A P& (4 RRIE (38,172)
Bank and other borrowing RITREMES (12,943)
Loan from former shareholder RERIKREZER (26,965)
Contract liabilities EXSI=EE (3,766)
Current tax liabilities BNERIRIE A& (3,268)
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE (4,391)
26,529
Goodwill 5k 15,886
42,415
Satisfied by: H T3S EEN !
Cash RE 50,000
Contingent consideration HAKME 19,380
Loan assigned by the former shareholder to the  FIRRERERFAEB BN
Group (26,965)
42,415
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WHEERIEES 2 RS M FEE
Cash consideration paid BNRENRE (50,000)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FriEIRE RERREER 686
(49,314)

EXMEERERARAR
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32.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (cont’'d)

)

d)

130

Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont’d)

The fair value of the trade and other receivables acquired is
approximately HK$64,060,000. The gross amount due under the
contracts is approximately HK$73,804,000 of which HK$9,744,000
is expected to be uncollectible.

The fair value of the contingent consideration of approximately
HK$19,380,000 was estimated by applying the discounted cash
flow approach with scenario probability. The estimation of fair value
is based on an assumed discount rate of 18.22% and assumed
probability-adjusted net profits meet guaranteed profit in the Target
Group of 59.7%.

The fair value of the acquired identifiable intangible assets of
HK$26,378,000 are patents for the software and customer contracts
was estimated by income capitalisation approach. The estimation
of fair value is based on an assumed discount rate of 17.38%
and assumed probability-adjusted revenue in the Target Group of
annually increase of 3 to 5%.

The Target Group contributed approximately HK$10,757,000 and
HK$2,010,000 to the Group's revenue and profit for the year
respectively for the period between the date of acquisition and the
end of the reporting period.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 July 2023, total
Group's revenue for the year would have been approximately
HK$114,376,000, and loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$3,334,000. The proforma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of the
revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually would
have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 July
2023, nor is intended to be a projection of future results.

Major non-cash transactions

Additions to property, plant and equipment during the year of
approximately HK$88,916,000 (1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023: nil)
were transferred from prepayments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

33.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided for
in the consolidated financial statements were as follows:

R MR R M EE

P MERAZTHILEFE

33.AREE

REERR REMFRRABERAIRER
ZHABENT

Indemnity related to a former subsidiary ER—RRIMERBZRERE

As at As at

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
RZEZWE I
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET

6,527 6,578

At the end of the reporting period, the Directors do not consider it
probable that a claim will be made against the Group under the above
possible claim.

In February 2005, a Writ of Summons was served on the Company
demanding the payment of approximately RMB6,100,000. However,
such amounts were covered by the amount accrued in the financial
statements of World Giant at the time of disposal. Accordingly, in the
opinion of the Directors and having obtained an opinion from the
Company’s lawyer, the Group has no obligation to pay the above taxes.
Because of the uncertainty of the outcome of this matter, the amount
involved of approximately RMB6,100,000, equivalent to approximately
HK$6,527,000 (30 June 2023: HK$6,578,000), has been shown as
contingent liabilities.

R|EMKR BEFDR FEBERAEER L
MEEREMERHEFR

ATETRE_R  AABDBEERIZMNGLH
AR #6,100,0007THIEZE o« AT > B R BLZE
ERHERUESHHEREBRT Z2HNIER
HWoEIL FEEBA (FEHHAASATEZME
R)AEBITES N ERREZ SE BRI
BFEZERERSE  ALLAMTROARE
6,100,0007C (fH & 1 496,527,000 7T (=
—Z#/,"B=+H :6,578,000587T)) ZHIE
BAARIRE R
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

34.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

132

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions and balances with related parties during the year/
period:

4. AR 53X 5
MEZE RV BRRREMEHERZ
B REBRE / HRNEBH A
TR G R 4EF

(a)

As at As at
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
RIZ_WE i ——
~NB=+H ANB=1+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Amount due to a related party (i) FE {5 — %% R B 75 7R IE() 8,046 8,465

(i) The amount due to a related party was included in other payable, which
is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. Two directors of
the Company, Ji Kaiping and Guo Peiyuan, have control over the related
party.

The Company received car rental service income of approximately
HK$22,456,000 (1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023: HK$35,556,000)
from third parties through an application operated by the related
party during the year ended 30 June 2024 and as at 30 June
2024 has a trade receivable of approximately HK$13,767,000 (as
at 30 June 2023 : HK$13,148,000) from third parties through an
application operated by the related party. Two directors of the
Company, Ji Kaiping and Guo Peiyuan, have control over the related
party.

Compensation of key management personnel other than directors of
the Group:

() FEN—REEES MBS ABMEY TR
ERsif REEAREREE AR
BIMLEERCHTRBIFERER ZME
732 R

REZEZZ-_MNENB=Z+HILF
ErAREEBEMAEEZERARE
ABME=ZFWREBCSERERSE WAL
22,456,0008 T (ZE - E—HF—HZE
—E-=%;xA=+H :35,556,000#
T MR ZEMERB=+H &A
BB s EEEARAERKE
= HZEWE S F413,767,0008 7T (IF
“E=%"A=1+H 13,148,000/
TO) c AR REIMBESLCHE R ITIEE
B S 2 EsI

FEBEFUIZTEEEASME

Year ended
30 June 2024

1 January 2022
to 30 June 2023

BE —_=E_

—E-@mE —B—BZ%

~NA=+H —E”=

LLFE A~NA=+H

HK$000 HK$'000

FHT FAET

Short term employee benefits SHAEEET 783 1,132

The details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR MR R MY EE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 35. ERE D ZERMTA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of consolidated financial AR ESESRTANRRSH A ZIETREDN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T
Financial assets EHMEE
As at As at
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
RIZEZWE - S
NA=+H NE=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Financial assets at amortised HEBHER T EZEMEE
cost (including cash and cash (BERERERREIEH)
equivalents)
Trade receivables EUWE 5 ™ 78,107 20,305
Financial assets included in prepayments, st AFBIFRIEi2E& & EHAth
deposits and other receivables ERRIBEZz SMEE 33,675 3,361
Bank and cash balances RTRRSEE 45,758 135,575
157,540 159,241
Financial liabilities ERAaE
As at As at
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
RIE-WNE A
~NB=+H ANB=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Financial liabilities at amortised cost Ri#FEMAHEZ SR EE
Financial liabilities included in other payables &t A HE fihf& (< T I8 & fE 5+ & A

and accruals ZEMEE 116,119 125,104
Borrowings =)= 68,934 38,550
Lease liabilities HESE 147,110 146,468

332,163 310,122
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BAFEFABRZE/MEE 20,108 -

EXMEERERARAR
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The
fore
The

Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including
ign currency risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk.
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential

adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a)

(b)

134

Market risk

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its bank
borrowings. These borrowings bear interests at variable rates varied
with the then prevailing market condition.

At 30 June 2024, if interest rates at that date had been 50 basis
points lower with all other variables held constant, consolidated loss
after tax for the year would have been approximately HK$114,000
(period ended 30 June 2023: nil) lower, arising mainly as a result
of lower interest expense on bank borrowings. If interest rates
had been 50 basis points higher, with all other variables held
constant, consolidated profit after tax for the year would have
been approximately HK$114,000 (period ended 30 June 2023: nil)
higher, arising mainly as a result of higher interest expense on bank
borrowings.

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk mainly in relation to its trade
and other receivables, cash deposits with banks and maximum
exposure of credit risk is equal to the carrying amounts of these
financial assets. Cash and bank transactions counterparties are
limited to financial institutions with good credit rating assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 36. MR EIEEERKE @&
POLICIES (cont’'d)
(b) Credit risk (cont'd) (b) EERAK @)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain
concentration of credit risk as approximately 30% (30 June 2023:
38%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from the Group’s
largest trade debtor. The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales of products are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history. The Group reviews the recoverable amount of the trade
and other receivables on a regular basis and provision for doubtful
debts is made in accordance with the Group’s policies. In addition,
the Management reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
trade debt regularly to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
recognised for irrecoverable debts. In this regard, the Management
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period by comparing the risk of a default occurring
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the following information
is used:

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the operating results
of the borrower;

— significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments
of the same borrower;

— significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour
of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of
borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is
more than 30 days past due in making a contractual payment. A
default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make
contractual payments within 60 days of when they fall due.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

B RMIEE

S _MESRA=THILEFE

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’'d)
(b) Credit risk (cont'd)

(c)

136

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally categorises
a loan or receivable for write off when a debtor fails to make
contractual payments greater than 360 days past due. Where loans
or receivables have been written off, the Group, if practicable and
economical, continues to engage in enforcement activity to attempt
to recover the receivable due.

The Group uses two categories for non-trade receivables which
reflect their credit risk and how the loan loss provision is determined
for each of the categories. In calculating the expected credit loss
rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each category and
adjusts for forward looking data.

36. B F5 ALK
(b) FERE

SEREEHERBE @

% (48)

THEEN SRR ZWRE PINER
N B R EE [ AR RRET B BT e o
W fEH AR BB EBIE3608 KRBT
BN AEEBEETMEERENR
Y FE WGRR TR o it & 0 B0 LU R TR R A
ARER EBERITAFERE DL
1B AT #E B EREX 52 Y 17 h it [ U [o] 21 2R
&SRR IE o

FEBRKIFEZBUHRIED HMmEE > MU
RBEEHNZEERERERBEER
EERA -stERAGEERRXE &~ &
MEEREH 2 ELBIBLEE WHtsl
MEIE R E AR -

Category Definition Loss provision

EFl E&E EERHE

Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity to pay 12 month expected losses

BN EMN R (JRREE /158 1218 B FaEAR 18

Non-performing Significant increase in credit risk Lifetime expected losses

TEH EE E g AIEIE N S HATAEARS 1B

Liquidity risk (o) RBEZER

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and expected AEEZBEATHEREARERZ
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves TEHESER OUMERAERMMERE

of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long term.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

On demand or

HIRTHBUBNCHEERRRANRE
BEHEKe

FEBRZETWRMBEARGERRS
HARzEREBEEIHRROT

within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years  Over 5 years Total

—FR —E”fF —ERfE EENE 5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

At 30 June 2024 RZE_MEAB=1+H TET TR TiER THET TET
Financial liabilities included in SFAEMENRERESER

other payables and accruals ZEMBE 116,119 - - - 116,119

Borrowings BE 68,934 - - - 68,934

Lease liabilities HEAE 146,853 265 22 - 147,140

331,906 265 22 - 332,193
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE_=

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (cont’'d)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk (cont'd)

On demand or

R MR R M EE

“HERAZTHLEFE

36. MR ERE B EREE @
(C) /ngﬁﬁﬂﬁxx (ﬁ.ﬁ)

within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Over 5 years Total
—&R —EC°F “ELE EENE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 30 June 2023 RIBZ=F-A=+H TET TET TET FTET TET
Financial liabilities included in FAEMENRERESER

other payables and accruals ZEHERE 125,104 - - - 125,104
Borrowings e 38,550 - - - 38,550
Lease liabilities HEEE 146,170 267 289 - 146,726
309,824 267 289 - 310,380

Capital management (d) BEXxEE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain sufficient capital in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets.
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt. No changes were made in
the objectives, policies and processes during the year ended 30 June
2024 and eighteen months ended 30 June 2023.

In order to maintain or

The Group monitors capital on the basis of gearing ratio, which is
calculated as borrowings (including lease liabilities) over the amount
of total assets. The Group’s strategy is to maintain the gearing ratio
at an appropriate level. The gearing ratio as at 30 June 2024 was
46% (30 June 2023: 54%).
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE T _N&EB=+HILEE

37.CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group's capital commitments at the end of the reporting period are
as follows:

37. B KIE

FEERBSHRZERFEDT ¢

As at As at
30 June 2024 30 June 2023

RIZTZWE RZIZ2_=
~B=+H ~B=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FHET

Property, plant and equipment ME- -BERSRE

Contracted but not provided for Bl AEREE 13,605 37,088

Details of the Company’s capital commitments in respect of investments

ARBABRBMEABNKE 2B R RIEF

in associates are as follows: BT
As at As at
30 June 2024 30 June 2023
RITZME RIBZ=4&
~A=+H ~B=+H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Capital expenditure contracted but MEBEQABNEE Z RTEER
not provided for in the consolidated Bl AERNEEHHERE
financial statements in respect of NEBEZERRAE
unpaid balance of capital contributions
to associates 11,048 27,351

Pursuant to an equity joint venture agreement during the period, the
Group has a 35% investment in an associate named A% &5 E & E &
FEHARAB (the “Associate A”) which was incorporated in the PRC
on 27 May 2022 for a period of fifty years. The Associate A is engaged
in road transport service. The total investment cost of the Group in
proportion to its respective interest in the Associate A is RMB3,500,000
which is to be financed in the form of cash by the Group. At 30 June
2024, the Group has fulfilled its investment obligation in the Associate A
to the extent of nil (30 June 2023: nil).
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 EEZE T _NEB=+HILEE

CAPITAL COMMITMENT (cont'd)

Pursuant to an equity joint venture agreement during the period, the
Group has a 30% investment in an associate named JtREE BB
EEARAT (the “Associate B”) which was incorporated in the PRC on
25 April 2023 for a period of fifty years. The Associate B is engaged in
commercial services. The total investment cost of the Group in proportion
to its respective interest in the Associate B is RMB15,000,000 which is
to be financed in the form of cash by the Group. At 30 June 2023, the
Group has fulfilled its investment obligation in the Associate B to the
extent of nil. The Associate B was terminated during the year ended 30
June 2024.

Pursuant to an equity joint venture agreement during the period, the
Group has a 35% investment in an associate named LI 78 1% &} B AR A}
BIRAE (the "Associate C") which was incorporated in the PRC on 19
August 2022 for a period of fifty years. The Associate C is engaged in
technology promotion and application service. The total investment cost
of the Group in proportion to its respective interest in the Associate C is
RMB7,000,000 which is to be financed in the form of cash by the Group.
At 30 June 2024, the Group has fulfilled its investment obligation in the
Associate C to the extent of RMB175,000 (30 June 2023: RMB:175,000).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no material events subsequent to 30 June 2024 which would
materially affect the Group's operating and financial performance as of
the date of this annual report.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 30 September 2024.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hFMBHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years/periods, as extracted from the published audited

FEBRBEREMBFE B2 (¥EREER
BEHE(EREETERERYHFREEERR

financial statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out below.

D ENES)) HIEIMT -

For period
For the from
year 1 January
ended 2022 to For the year ended 31 December
30 June 30 June HE+T-B=+-HLEE
2024 2023 2021 2020 2019
EZoF
BE —A—H%
—Z_mE ZBIZE
~NB=t+H NA=1H
RESULTS E4 LHEE i) —3C-F “ZIZF “Z-hEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FTER TERT FTER TET
Revenue W& 84,738 116,293 142,814 134,527 97,767
(Loss)/profit before tax iR (58) /&7 (8,045) 183,629 61,403 42,158 72,264
Income tax expenses FriEx (2,178) (1,546) (2,792) (2,147) (2,899)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (B8) /EF (10,223) 182,083 58,611 40,011 69,365
Attributable to: MTFALRE:
Owners of the Company E/NSIE DN (8,629) 201,759 54,756 36,726 61,556
Non-controlling interests EERER (1,594) (19,676) 3,855 3,285 7,809
(10,223) 182,083 58,611 40,011 69,365
At 31 December
At 30 June At 30 June R+ZB=+—H
2024 2023 2021 2020 2019
RZEZME AZBI=F
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR ~NB=+H ~B=tH —EC-E —ECRE -5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER FTET FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE 254,641 180,851 227,418 242,435 252,865
Current assets NEEE 217,442 164,292 87,122 84,932 129,085
Current liabilities nEaR (364,789) (314,968) (783,324) (842,006) (903,916)
Non-current liabilities FrRBman (4,045) (526) (1,663) (10,772) (41,808)
Net assets BERE 103,249 29,649 (470,447) (525,411) (563,774)
Attributable to: MTFALREM:
Owners of the Company KABHEBA 143,237 68,578 (447,146) (499,183) (535,621)
Non-controlling interests JEER S (39,988) (38,929) (23,301) (26,228) (28,153)
Total equity FEbi g 103,249 29,649 (470,447) (525,411) (563,774)
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